# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**



# **BETWEEN**

# TORONTO DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

# AND

# ONTARIO SECONDARY SCHOOL TEACHERS' FEDERATION

Representing

The PROFESSIONAL STUDENT SERVICES
PERSONNEL UNIT, DISTRICT 12

(Unit A)

12746 (04)

September **I**, 2004 - August 31, 2008

# **Table of Contents**

Article <u>Title</u>	<u>Page</u>
PARTA - GENERAL	4
Article A.1 Preamble	
Article A.2. – Definitions	
Article A.3. – Recognition	
Article A.4. – Management Rights	
Article A.5 Membership and Dues	
Article A.7. – Communications	
Article A.8. – Labour-Management Consultations	9
Article A.9. – Representation	10
Article A.10. – Grievance Procedures	
Article A.11 Term of Agreement - Notice of Renewal	
Article A.12 Copies of Agreement	
Article A.13 No Stoppage of Work	18
PART B - SALARY	19
Article B.1 Wages	19
Article B.2 Kilometrage/Mileage And Use Of Employee's Vehicle	21
Article B.3 Supervision Allowances	22
Article B.4 Diagnostic Allowances	22
PART C - SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL	23
Article C.1. – Seniority	
Article C.2 Layoff, Recall and Termination	
PART D -WORKING CONDITIONS	
Article D.1 Employee's Files	
Article D.2. – Postings	
Article D.4. – Job Security	
Article D.5. – Temporary Contract	
Article D.6 Employee Security	
Article D.7 Professional Development	
Article D.8 Reimbursement for Educational Courses	
Article D.9. – Code of Ethics	
Article D.10. – RestructuringCommittee	36
Article D.11 Categories of Employees  Article D.12 Hours of Work	ري
Article D.13. – The Work Year	
Article D.14. – Vacation and Paid Holidays	
Article D.15. – Health and Safety	
Article D.16 Self-Funded Leave Plan	39
Article D.17 Attendance Management	39
PART E - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	40
Article E.1 – Leaves of Absence Without Pay	
Article E.2. – Insured Employee Benefits	
Article E.3. – Pension	
Article E.4. – Sick Leave Plan	
Article E.5. – Storage of Medical Files	53
APPENDIX A (WAGES)	56
Schedule of Wages	
August 31, 2004	
September 1, 2004	

	5	
September 1, 2005,	5	) /
September 1, 2006	5	) / : 7
September 1, 2007	5 5	) / 58
February 1 2008	5	, ;8
Notes:	5	,o
Notes re: Category Placement for Joh	Classifications	,o
3 ,		
APPENDIX B	6	)(
Appendix B – Supplemental Employme	ent Benefits (SEB) Plan - For Permanent Employees6	30
APPENDIX C	6	12
	on-Teaching Employees6	
PART I_ Congral	71-164011119 Limployees	,z 32
PARTII - Credits from Previous Plans	and Transfers6	33
PARTIII - Absence Due to Illness with	Deductions from Credits	٠.۵
PARTIV - Absence With Payment und	der the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act6	35
PART V - Special Leave	6	36
PART VI - Sick Leave Credit Gratuitie:	s6	36
Miscellaneous Leave	6	37
Miscellaneous Leaves with Deductions	sfrom Credits6	8
Miscellaneous Leaves without Deducti	ons from Credits6	39
	7	
List of Inactive Job Classes	7	′0
APPENDIX E	7	1
	7	
LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING	7	6
	In Schools7	
Re: Equipment	7	'6
Re: Return to Work		'6
Re: Pay Equity	7	0
Re: D.5.1		' / " ^
Re: Communications System	7	٥ 20
Re: Discrepancies September 1, 20	04 – August 31, 2008 Collective Agreement7	Ö 70
Re: School-based Employees	7	0 70
Re: Immediate Family Re: Supervision of Child & Youth W	7 /orkers7	0 20
Re: Child and Youth Workers	701Ke157	יט מי
Re: Salary Reopener	7	, 0
Re: Joint Benefits Review Committee	988	30
Re: Professional Development Acc	ount8	31
Re: Joint Committee On Suppleme	ntal Student Services 8	32
Re: Clarification Note for Article A.1	0.6.1.	3
	n8	
	cy8	
	8	
	FORMING PART OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT)8	
•	•	
Re: Sick Leave and Pregnancy Lea	ve8	18

# PARTA - GENERAL

# **ARTICLE A.1. – PREAMBLE**

- A.1.1. The general purpose of this Agreement is:
- A.1.1.1 to establish mutually satisfactory relations between the Employer and its Employees;
- A.1.1.2. to provide orderly procedures for the prompt and equitable disposition of grievances;
- A.1.1.3. to set forth the terms and conditions of work for all Employees who are subject to the provision of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE A.2. – DEFINITIONS**

- A.2.1. "Agreement" means this collective agreement.
- A.2.2. "Bargaining Unit" means OSSTF, Professional Student Services Personnel District 12.
- A.2.3. "Director" means the Director of Education of the Toronto District School Board.
- A.2.4. "Employee" means an Employee of the TDSB within this Bargaining Unit.
- A.2.5. "Employer" means the Toronto District School Board.
- A.2.6. "OSSTF" means the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation.
- A.2.7. "Predecessor Board" means The Board of Education for the Borough of East York, The Board of Education for the City of Etobicoke, The Board of Education for the City of North York, The Board of Education for the City of Scarborough, The Board of Education for the City of York, or The Metropolitan Toronto School Board.
- A.2.8. "School months" shall be defined as all months from September to June, both inclusive.
- A.2.9. "School year" shall be **as** defined in the Education Act.
- A.2.10. "TDSB" means the Toronto District School Board.

# **ARTICLE A.3. – RECOGNITION**

- A.3.1. The Employer recognizes the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation (OSSTF) as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent representing all full/part-time permanent, probationary, temporary and occasional PSSP Employees in providing Professional Student Services.
- A.3.1.1. The Employer further recognizes and OSSTF confirms that OSSTF has duly authorized the Professional Student Services Bargaining Unit of OSSTF District 12 Toronto hereinafter referred to as the Bargaining Unit to act as the agent of OSSTF in all matters relating to the negotiation, interpretation, administration and application of this Agreement on behalf of all Employees under this Agreement.
- A.3.1.2. For purposes of clarity, Employees employed **as**, or performing the job functions of (though not limited to) the following active job classifications are included in this Bargaining Unit:

**Attendance Counsellors** 

Child and Youth Workers

Court Liaison Workers (temporary)

**Educational Audiologists** 

Multilingual Team Leaders

Occupational Therapists

**Physiotherapists** 

Psychologists (including Psycho-Educational Consultants, Psychologists and Psychological Associates)

Social Workers

Speech-Language Pathologists

Student Equity Program Advisor

and those currently inactive positions as listed in Appendix D.

by the Toronto District School Board, save and except those persons employed as supervisors, persons above the rank of supervisor and any positions which are covered by another collective agreement. This Bargaining Unit shall also include all persons referenced in Article A.3. who are on approved leaves of absence.

A.3.2. The use of the word "supervisor" in Article A.3. is meant to refer to those individuals who exercise managerial functions, or are employed in a confidential capacity, within the meaning of section 1(3)(b) of the Ontario Labour Relations Act.

#### ARTICLE A.4. – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A.4.1. General Management Rights
- A.4.1.1. Save and except to the extent specifically modified or limited by any provisions of this Agreement, the right and responsibility to manage the business of the Employer and its schools is vested solely and exclusively with the Employer.
- A.4.1.2. The Employer agrees that it will not exercise its management rights in a manner that is arbitrary, unreasonable, or discriminatory or that is inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE A.5. - MEMBERSHIP AND DUES

- A.5.1. All present Employees shall remain members of OSSTF in good standing during the lifetime of this Agreement as a condition of employment. Employees hired subsequent to the ratification of this Agreement shall become Bargaining Unit members as of their first day of work, as a condition of employment, and shall remain Bargaining Unit members in good standing.
- A.5.1.1. Notwithstanding A.5.1., the Employer shall not be required to discharge any Employee to whom membership in OSSTF has been denied or terminated.
- A.5.2. The Employer agrees to deduct from the pay of each Employee to whom any pay is due in that pay period, an amount equal to his/her regular OSSTF dues and/or assessments, if any, which shall be levied on a uniform basis on all Employees in the Bargaining Unit. The amounts shall be determined by OSSTF and/or the Bargaining Unit in accordance with their respective constitutions and forwarded in writing to the Employer at least thirty (30) days prior to the expected date of change.
- A.5.2.1. All dues or assessments so deducted shall be remitted to OSSTF not later than the twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) day of the month following the month in which such deductions were made together with a list of the names of all Employees from whose pay dues or assessments were so deducted.
- A.5.3. The OSSTF dues deducted in accordance with A.5.2. shall be remitted to the Treasurer of OSSTF at a location to be specified by OSSTF. Remittances to OSSTF shall be accompanied by Employees' names and work locations.

- A.5.4. A levy specified by the Bargaining Unit in accordance with A.5.2., if any, shall be deducted and remitted to the Treasurer of OSSTF District 12 PSSP. The Employer shall only deduct for active Employees with earnings in the pay periods where the levy applies.
- A.5.5. OSSTF and/or the Bargaining Unit, as the case may be, shall indemnify and hold the Employer harmless from any claims, suits, attachments and any form of liability as a result of such deductions authorized by OSSTF and/or the Bargaining Unit.

# ARTICLE A.6. - RELATIONSHIP

- A.6.1 It is agreed that OSSTF and the Employees will not engage in OSSTF activities during working hours or hold meetings at any time on Employer premises without obtaining the prior permission of the Employer. This clause shall not be construed to prevent Employees from engaging in casual conversation relating to OSSTF affairs.
- A.6.1.1. Provided the normal procedure is followed, the Employer will, subject to the usual Employer requirements and policies, grant a permit to OSSTF for the use of its premises and facilities for the purposes of membership and executive meetings without permit fee and without additional costs to the Employer.
- A.6.2. The Employer acknowledges that Employees and/or officers of the Bargaining Unit that may be chosen from among the Employees may be required to leave their regular duties for the purpose of presenting grievances at meetings held with the Employer. Permission for such activities will not be unreasonably withheld and will be granted without loss of pay.
- A.6.3. Both the Employer and OSSTF agree there shall be no discrimination against any Employee because of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, record of offences, marital status, family status or handicap in accordance with the <a href="https://example.com/humanRights-code">HumanRights-code</a>, RSO 1990, as amended from time to time.
- A.6.3.1. Any alleged violation may be dealt with pursuant to the procedures in the Human Rights Code, RSO 1990, and/or the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement. Where an alleged harasser is the person who would normally deal with the initial step of the Grievance Procedures, the grievance will automatically be sent forward to the next step.
- A.6.4. The Employer shall advise the Bargaining Unit President when new Employer Policies are available.

- A.6.5. The Employer shall provide electronically the Board's public session and Standing Committee Agendas and public session and Standing Committee minutes to the Bargaining Unit President.
- A.6.6. Members of staff beyond the Bargaining Unit will not be expected to photocopy or distribute Bargaining Unit materials.
- A.6.7. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit agree that access to the Employer's communication systems is provided for the purpose of representing Employees in matters related to their terms and conditions of employment, including the administration/ implementation of the Collective Agreement, Employer Policies and Procedures. The parties agree such use must be consistent with the provisions of the Collective Agreement and Employer Policies/Procedures, including those governing on-line appropriate use of network resources.

#### **ARTICLE A.7. – COMMUNICATIONS**

- A.7.1. The Bargaining Unit shall notify the Employer in writing, of the names of its executive officers and the chairs of its Negotiating and Grievance Committees and of any changes therein, as appropriate.
- A.7.2. The Employer shall provide the Bargaining Unit with the following:
- A.7.2.1. The Employer agrees to inform the Bargaining Unit, in writing, within ten (10) working days, of the name of any Employee covered by this Agreement who was hired, transferred or promoted within the Bargaining Unit, who ceased to be an Employee of the Bargaining Unit as a result of promotion, resignation or retirement.
- A.7.3. The Bargaining Unit shall advise the Employer annually of the address for the purpose of sending proper notices and official communications.
- A.7.4. All correspondence from the Bargaining Unit to the Employer arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto shall be forwarded to the person designated by the Employer. The Employer shall advise the Bargaining Unit in writing of the person designated by the Employer and of any changes from time to time.
- A.7.4.1. All correspondence from the Employer to the Bargaining Unit arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto shall be forwarded to the person designated by the Bargaining Unit. The Bargaining Unit shall advise the Employer in writing of the person designated by the Bargaining Unit and of any changes from time to time.

- A.7.5. Employee Notification
- A.7.5.1. Any notice required to be given to an Employee by the Employer under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given if forwarded to the Employee at the last address according to the records, by means of registered mail.
- A.7.5.2. It shall **be** the duty of each Employee to notify the Employer promptly of any change *of* address.

# ARTICLE A.8. - LABOUR-MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIONS

- A.8.1. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit shall establish and maintain a Labour Management Committee. The Committee shall have as its members up to six (6) Employer representatives and up to six (6) members of the Bargaining Unit. No deduction from the regular pay of the Bargaining Unit members will be made for attendance at such meetings with the Employer held during the Employee's regular work hours.
- A.8.2. The Committee shall determine a meeting schedule each year and may hold additional meetings at the request of either party. In the development of the agenda, the parties will ensure that appropriate personnel are in attendance to deal with the items on the agenda.
- A.8.3. The Committee shall discuss issues of concern to either the Employer or the Bargaining Unit but shall not consider any matter which **is** under negotiations or which **is** the subject of a formal grievance under the Grievance Procedures of this Agreement. Labour Management meetings will not be used for the purpose *of* bypassing the Grievance Procedures of this Agreement.
- A.8.4 The Labour Management Committee agrees to establish a sub-committee to deal solely with matters relating to Child and Youth Workers, including the development of professional development opportunities and quality of service provided. Membership on the sub-committee will include representation from the Bargaining Unit, Employee Services and School Services.

# **ARTICLE A.9. – REPRESENTATION**

# A.9.1. Negotiation Committee

- A.9.1.1. For the purpose of negotiations between the parties, the Employer shall recognize a Negotiating Committee of not more than six (6) Employees who are members of the Bargaining Unit. No deduction from the regular pay of such Employees will be made for attendance at such meetings with the Employer held during the Employee's regular working hours. The Employer agrees that up to two (2) representatives from OSSTF Provincial Office may be present and assist the Negotiating Committee. Upon mutual consent, either party may have authorized legal counsel or an agent to represent and/or to negotiate on its behalf.
- A.9.1.2. Upon seventy-two (72) hours notice to the Employer, each of the Bargaining Unit's six (6) Negotiating Committee members will be allowed five (5) days absence from work during the term of this Agreement to prepare for negotiations and will be paid by the Employer for their normal working hours at their regular rates of pay.

# A.9.2. Grievance Committee

- A.9.2.1. The Employer acknowledges the right of the Bargaining Unit to select bargaining unit representatives on a Grievance Committee. Unless by mutual consent, not more than two (2) grievance representatives shall be present at any meeting for the settlement of a specific grievance.
- A.9.2.2. These Grievance Committee members will be allowed time release to attend grievance meetings, and reasonable time release for investigation of grievances prior to arbitration, with the Employer without **loss** of their regular pay. In all such cases, the Grievance Committee members shall advise their principals/supervisors of the time they expect to be absent from work.

# ARTICLE A.10. – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

- A.10.1. The parties to this Agreement are agreed that it is of the utmost importance to attempt to resolve complaints and grievances as quickly as possible.
- A.10.1.1. Within the terms of this Agreement, a grievance is a difference relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.
- A.10.1.2 All appended Letters of Understanding, unless otherwise specified, are incorporated and made part of the Agreement.

# A.10.2. Informal Stage

- A.10.2.1 An Employee or group of Employees shall, prior to filing a grievance as hereinafter provided, attempt by informal discussion with the appropriate supervisor to resolve any matter which could be the subject of a grievance prior to filing a written grievance hereunder. In this discussion the Employee or group of Employees may be accompanied by a representative of the Bargaining Unit. Where it could reasonably be expected that an incident would lead to discipline or discharge, the supervisor will inform the Employee or group of Employees that they may be accompanied by a representative of the Bargaining Unit. The supervisor shall state his/her answer verbally within five (5) working days of the meeting.
- A.10.2.2. A grievance relating to the discharge of an Employee shall be filed at Step 2. In any other event, such grievance shall be filed at Step 1.
- A.10.2.3. A grievance relating to the discipline or accommodation of an Employee may be filed at Step 2. In any other event, such grievance shall be filed at Step 1.
- A.10.3. Grievances shall be settled as follows:
- A.10.3.1. Step 1
- A.10.3.1.1 If no resolution is reached under A.10.2.1., a grievance may be submitted by the Bargaining Unit on behalf of the Employee or group of Employees within the next fifteen (15) working days following the day the cause of the grievance became known or reasonably ought to have been known to the Employee or group of Employees. The grievance shall be submitted to the Director or designate in writing, signed by the President of the Bargaining Unit or designate. A copy shall be given to the appropriate supervisor.
- A.10.3.1.2. The grievance shall state the clause or clauses of this Agreement that it is alleged have been violated and the remedy requested.
- A.10.3.1.3. The Director or designate shall attempt to resolve the grievance within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance and may meet with the grievor(s) and the Bargaining Unit representative at a mutually agreeable time.

# A.10.3.2. Step 2

- A.10.3.2.1. If no settlement is reached at Step 1, the Bargaining Unit on behalf of the Employee or group of Employees may within ten (10) working days, request representatives of the Bargaining Unit and representatives appointed by the Employer to meet to attempt to settle the grievance. The representatives shall meet within ten (10) working days of the Bargaining Unit requesting such a meeting.
- A.10.3.2.2. All grievance settlements shall be in writing and signed by both the Employer and the Bargaining Unit. Should the parties fail to reach a settlement, the Employer shall provide its denial of the grievance, and reasons for the denial, in writing. The written settlement or denial, as the case may be, shall be produced within seven (7) working days of the final meeting between the parties under this stage of the Grievance Procedures.

# A.10.3.3. Arbitration Step

A.10.3.3.1. If the grievance is denied and a satisfactory settlement is not reached within seven (7) working days after written notification of the decision in Step 2, the grievance may be referred by either party to a Board of Arbitration, as provided in Article A.10.7., or an Arbitrator, as provided in Article A.10.10, at any time within twenty-one (21) working days after the aforementioned seven (7) working days.

# A.10.4. General Grievance Rules

- A.10.4.1. Any of the time allowance set out in this Article may be extended by mutual consent in writing.
- A.10.4.2. If the Employer fails to reply to a grievance within the prescribed time limits in any step of the Grievance Procedures, the grievance may be processed to the next higher step following the expiry of the time limit in question.
- A.10.4.3. If a grievance is not processed to the next higher step or to Arbitration in accordance with the prescribed times, or the times as extended by mutual agreement, the grievance shall be deemed to be abandoned.
- A.10.4.4. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit agree to exchange materials to be presented at each step of the Grievance Procedures no later than two (2) full working days prior to the commencement of the meeting scheduled to review the grievance. The material to be exchanged includes copies of all letters, reports, written statements, charts or documents of any kind which will be presented or discussed at the grievance meeting

- A.10.4.5. For the purposes of notification and communication relating to grievances written notices, facsimiles and e-mails whose receipt has been acknowledged shall be considered sufficient.
- A.10.4.5.1. Notwithstanding A.10.4.5., the final resolution of all grievances shall be in writing and signed by representatives of the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.
- A.10.5. Policy Grievances, Direct Differences and Group Grievances
- A.10.5.1. Should any difference arise between the Employer and the Bargaining Unit as to the interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement affecting the Bargaining Unit as such, the Employees as a whole, or a substantial number of Employees, the Bargaining Unit shall have the right to file a grievance within fifteen (15) working days after a Grievance Committee member or any officer of the Bargaining Unit became aware or might reasonably be expected to have become aware of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance.
- A.10.5.1.1. All such grievances shall be filed at Step 2 of the Grievance Procedures as provided in A.10.3.2.
- A.10.6. Discipline and Discharge
- A.10.6.1. If the Employer requires an Employee to meet with his/her supervisor or designate in order to formally investigate the professional conduct of the Employee or in order to receive a written reprimand, suspension or discharge, the supervisor will inform the Employee that he/she has the right to have a Bargaining Unit representative present. The Employee has a right to refuse Bargaining Unit representation. If the Employee elects to have Bargaining Unit representation, no discussion of the issues will take place until the Bargaining Unit representative is present in a timely fashion.
- A.10.6.2. The Bargaining Unit Grievance Committee shall receive a copy of any written reprimand given to an Employee resulting from a meeting at which a representative of the Bargaining Unit has been present.
- A.10.6.3. In determining the disciplinary action to be taken against an Employee, the Employer will take into consideration the Employee's record and the lapse of time since the last disciplinary action.

- A.10.6.3.1. During the probationary period, the Employer shall have the right to discipline, demote, discharge or layoff a probationary new Employee. The new Employee shall have recourse to the Grievance Procedures. It is understood by the parties, for the purpose of discipline, a lesser standard of just cause may apply to a probationary Employee than to an Employee who has completed his/her probationary period.
- A.10.6.4. An Employee shall receive a copy of any written reprimand.
- A.10.6.5. A claim of discharge without just cause by an Employee shall be treated as a grievance if a written statement of such grievance is lodged with the person designated by the Employer within fifteen (15) working days following written notification of the discharge to the Employee from the Employer. All preliminary steps of the Grievance Procedures prior to Step 2 will be omitted in such case.
- A.10.6.6. The Employer shall not discipline or discharge an Employee without just cause.
- A.10.6.7. In any matter of discipline or discharge, an Employee shall be advised in writing of his/her right to Bargaining Unit representation.
- A.10.7. Arbitration
- A.10.7.1. Any grievance concerning the interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement which has been properly carried through all the steps of the Grievance Procedures outlined in Article A.10. and which has not been settled, will be referred to a Board of Arbitration at the request of either of the parties hereto.
- A.10.7.1.1. Notwithstanding A.10.7.1., nothing precludes the parties from agreeing to proceed to expedited arbitration under the Ontario Labour Relations Act.
- A.10.7.2. The Board of Arbitration will be composed of one (I) person appointed by the Employer, and one (1) person appointed by OSSTF, and a third person to act as Chairperson chosen by the other two (2) members of the Board of Arbitration.
- A.10.7.3. Within five (5) working days of the request by either party for a Board of Arbitration, each party shall notify the other of the name of its nominee.

- A.10.7.4. Should the person chosen by the Employer to act on the Board of Arbitration and the person chosen by OSSTF fail to agree on a third person within twenty-one (21) working days of the notification mentioned in the above, the Minister of Labour of the Province of Ontario will be asked to nominate someone experienced in labour arbitration to act as Chairperson.
- A.10.7.5. The decision of a Board of Arbitration or arbitrator constituted in the above manner shall be binding on both parties.
- A.10.7.6. The Board of Arbitration shall not have any power to alter or change any of the provisions of this Agreement or to substitute any new provisions for the existing provisions.
- A.10.7.7. Each of the parties to this Agreement will bear the expenses of the arbitrator appointed by it; and the parties will jointly bear the expenses, if any, of the Chairperson.
- A.10.7.8. Any grievance concerning the disciplinary action, suspension or discharge of an Employee may be settled by confirming the Management's action, or by reinstating the Employee with full compensation for time lost, or by any other arrangement which is just and equitable in the opinion of the conferring parties, or the Board of Arbitration.
- A.10.7.9 The Arbitrator shall have the power to modify penalties including disciplinary penalties but shall not by decision add to, delete from, modify or otherwise amend the provisions of this Agreement.
- A.10.8. Management Grievances
- A.10.8.1. Any grievance instituted by management must be referred in writing to the Bargaining Unit within fifteen (15) working days of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance and representatives of the Bargaining Unit shall meet within five (5) working days thereafter with the person designated by the Employer to consider the grievance. If final settlement of the grievance is not completed within seven (7) working days of such meeting, the grievance may be referred by either party to a Board of Arbitration as provided in Article A.10.7. at any time within twenty-one (21) working days thereafter but not later.

#### A.10.9 Grievance Mediation Procedure

A.10.9.1 Once the Grievance Procedure has been exhausted, and prior to referring the matter to arbitration, the parties, by mutual consent in writing, may elect to resolve the grievance by using grievance mediation. The parties shall agree on the individual to be the mediator and the time frame in which a resolution is to be reached. The timelines in the Grievance Procedure shall be frozen at the time the parties mutually agreed in writing to use the grievance mediation procedure. Upon written notification of either party to the other party indicating that the grievance mediation is terminated, the timelines in the grievance/arbitration procedure shall continue from the point at which they were frozen.

# A.10.10. Expedited Arbitration Procedure

- A.10.10.1. Notwithstanding A.10.7.1. to A.10.7.9., the parties agree to an Expedited Arbitration procedure for individual grievances. The Expedited Arbitration process shall take effect upon ratification and shall expire one year hence. The parties shall review this procedure after the expiry date and may agree to extend it by mutual agreement with or without modification.
- A.10.10.2. Individual grievances shall be processed through the Expedited Arbitration procedure during the pilot project period. Group, Policy and Management grievances shall be referred to arbitration in the manner outlined in Articles A.10.7, to A.10.8.1.
- A.10.10.3. The following Arbitrators will be used on a rotational basis. If an Arbitrator does not have hearing dates agreeable to the parties within 180 days, the parties will proceed to the next Arbitrator on the list in the rotation. The parties may agree to waive the rotation of arbitrators on the list.

The list of arbitrators shall be:

Chris Albertyn Anne Barrett Kevin Burkett William Kaplan Louisa Davie Kevin Whittaker

Other Arbitrators may be placed in or deleted from the rotation by mutual consent of both parties.

Other Arbitrators may be used on single case basis by mutual consent of the parties.

- A.10.10.4. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be binding on both parties.
- A.10.10.5. The Arbitrator shall not have any power to alter or change any of the provisions of this Agreement or to substitute any new provisions for the existing provisions.
- A.10.10.6. Each of the parties to this Agreement will jointly bear the expenses, if any, of the Arbitrator. The parties shall pay their own expense of appearing at the hearing.
- A.10.10.7. Any grievance concerning the disciplinary action, suspension or discharge of an Employee may be settled by confirming the Management's action, or by reinstating the Employee with full compensation for time lost, or by any other arrangement which is just and equitable in the opinion of the conferring parties, or the Arbitrator.

# ARTICLE A.11. - TERMOF AGREEMENT - NOTICE OF RENEWAL

- A.11.1. This Agreement shall be effective September 1, 2004 and remain in force until August 31, 2008.
- A.11.2. The Agreement shall continue in force from year to year thereafter unless in any year either party shall furnish the other party with notice of intent to renegotiate this Agreement. Said notice must be given not more than 90 days nor less than 30 days prior to the end of the contract. Notwithstanding this, either party may notify the other, in writing, within the period commencing April 1 prior to the expiration date, that it desires to negotiate this Agreement in accordance with the <a href="Ontario Labour Relations Act">Ontario Labour Relations Act</a>.
- A.11.3. During negotiations on any proposed renewal or revision of this Agreement, the Agreement, in the form in which it may be at the commencement of such negotiations shall remain in full force and effect until a settlement of such negotiations has been reached, or until the conciliation procedure provided under the <a href="Ontario Labour Relations Act">Ontario Labour Relations Act</a> has been exhausted, whichever first occurs.
- A.11.4. The parties will meet within twenty (20) days after the giving of notice by either party for the purpose of entering into negotiations.
- A.11.5. No changes can be made to this Agreement without the mutual written consent of the parties.

# ARTICLE A.12. - COPIES OF AGREEMENT

A.12.1. Copies of this Agreement will be issued to all Employees within sixty (60) days after it is signed. The Employer shall provide every new Employee, at time of hiring, with a copy of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE A.13. – NO STOPPAGE OF WORK

- A.13.1. The parties agree that there shall be no strikes or lockouts during the term of this Agreement. The terms "strike" and "lockout" shall be as defined in the Ontario Labour Relations Act, R.S.O. 1980.
- A.13.2. Employees shall not be required to perform any duties normally and regularly performed by members of other bargaining units, except to the extent that such duties are included as party of the Employees' regular positions.

# PART B-SALARY

#### **ARTICLE B.1. - WAGES**

- B.1.1. Wages shall be paid bi-weekly by direct bank deposit to the Employee's personal account at a bank, trust company or credit union.
- B.1.2. Wages shall be paid in accordance with the rate determined in B.1.6., based on the schedule of wages shown in Appendix A in equal gross amounts, every two weeks. Any increases to the salary grid shall be payable on the first pay period following the split date in the Agreement.
- B.1.2.1. Notwithstanding B.1.2., Employees who, as at the date of ratification, are in receipt of a base salary (excluding allowances) which is higher than the maximum of the appropriate grid in Appendix A, will have the higher salary red-circled for as long as that Employee remains in the position he/she held at the date of ratification of the 1999-2000 Collective Agreement.
- B.1.2.2. The Employer shall ensure that any changes to Employees' pay schedule shall not reduce Employees' pension entitlements.
- B.1.2.3. Temporary Employees shall have the balance of monies owed to them paid out upon completion of their contract.
- B.1.3. Where an Employee within a job classification **is** approved to change salary categories within the job classification because of receiving additional qualifications, such Employee shall receive a salary adjustment effective on the date when proof of the new qualifications is received by the Employer
- B.1.3.1. No overpayment or underpayment prior to September of the current school year that resulted from incorrect Category or step placement shall be recoverable or payable unless the incorrect placement was made as a result of fraud or misrepresentation.
- B.1.3.2. In any cases of overpayment, the Employer shall first attempt to reach agreement with the Employee on a schedule of repayment.

#### B. **14**. Placement on Grid

- B.1.4.1. For newly-hired Employees, prior relevant experience for each acceptable year will be considered up to the category maximum in accordance with the salary steps in Appendix A. An acceptable year of experience shall be defined as one (I) year of full-time employment but accumulated through part-time employment. Relevant employment is verified employment with an acceptable professional agency or organization.
- B.1.4.2. For Employees who accept positions due to internal postings, and for whom no review of relevant professional experiences was completed with respect to credit for advancement on the grid, a review of experience under the same provisions as B.1.4.1. above shall be done.
- B.1.4.2.1. Experience shall be calculated as follows:
- B.1.4.2.1.1. for full-time employment on full-time salary for a period of not less than 190 days in one (1) school year, allow one (1) year's experience;
- B.1.4.2.1.2. for part-time employment on part-time salary, the number of days employed in one (I) school year multiplied by the fraction of the day worked, but such fraction shall not be less then half.
- B.1.4.2.1.3. for full-time employment on full-time salary for less than 190 days in one (1) school year, on a monthly basis divide the number of days worked by 20 and add together;
- B.1.4.3. In no case shall these formulae be applied to credit more than one (1) year of working experience in any given twelve (12) month period;
- B.1.4.4. In the case of reviews completed under B.1.4.1. or B.1.4.2., any reviews of placement requested after six (6) months of hire or acceptance of new position will not have the effect of resulting in retroactive payments.
- B.1.5. Increments
- B.1.5.1. Except as set out in B.1.5.2., Permanent Employees not at their maximum step shall be paid increments on January 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.
- B.1.5.2. A Permanent Employee joining the staff prior to September 15th **is** eligible to receive a full increment on the following January 1st. An increment shall not be paid on January 1st to Employees who start their employment on the preceding September 15<sup>th</sup> or later.
- B.1.5.3. Temporary Employees will have their step placements reviewed at the beginning of each new temporary contract in accordance with B.1.4.1.

- B.1.5.4. A Permanent Employee promoted from the status of Temporary Employee will be eligible for increment on the next January 1<sup>st</sup>, provided that the criteria in B.1.5.2, is met.
- B.1.5.5. Prior to the expiration of this Agreement, the parties will meet to discuss the feasibility of revising the increment schedule for Permanent Employees.

Note re: Increments During Pregnancy and Parental Leaves - see Article E.1.4.

Note re: Increments During Infant/Child Care Leaves – see Article E.1.6.

- B.1.6. Calculation of Hourly Rate of Pay
- B.1.6.1. For purposes of determining salary owed an Employee, the calculation of the hourly rate of pay shall **be** as follows:
- B.1.6.1.1. For Employees paid in Categories I IV of Appendix A:

{The appropriate annual salary shown in Appendix A} ÷ {(194 days + 3 days) x 7 hours per day}

B.1.6.1.2. For Employees paid in Category V of Appendix A:

{The appropriate annual salary shown in Appendix A}  $\div$  {194 days x 7 hours per day}

- B.1.8. Work During Winter, Spring and Summer Breaks
- B.1.8.1. Employment of Bargaining Unit members during times outside of the normal school year such as winter, spring and summer breaks shall by way of a temporary contract for the additional period of employment which respects all aspects of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE B.2. - KILOMETRAGE/MILEAGE AND USE OF EMPLOYEE'S VEHICLE

- B.2.1. Reimbursement for Use of Vehicle
- B.2.1.1. Full-time Employees who are required to use their automobiles on approved Employer business shall receive a travelling allowance of the equivalent of \$200.00 per month for each month from September to June inclusive. Employees who work less than full-time who are required to use their automobiles under this clause shall receive a pro-rated amount.

- B.2.1.2. Full-time Employees designated by the Employer who are assigned daily travel across three (3) or more administrative regions on a regular basis shall receive a travelling allowance of the equivalent of \$250.00 per month for each month from September to June inclusive. Employees who work less than full-time who are **so** designated shall receive a prorated amount.
- B.2.1.3. Employees who are not in receipt of the allowances referred to in B.2.1.1. or B.2.1.2. and who are required to travel on Employer-authorized business shall be reimbursed for such travel at the rate per kilometre as approved by the Employer for travel within the City of Toronto and outside the Greater Toronto area.
- B.2.2. Extraordinary Expenses
- B.2.2.1. Authorization and reimbursement of extraordinary expenses, such as travel by ferryboats, may be authorized by a Supervisory Officer or designate.
- B.2.3. T2200
- B.2.3.1. Employees who are required to use their personal vehicles for Employer business as a condition of employment shall be provided annually with a Form T2200.

# **ARTICLE B.3. - SUPERVISION ALLOWANCES**

B.3.1. Employees who are registered for autonomous practice by the College of Psychologists of Ontario and who provide clinical supervision of their peers who are not registered for autonomous practice in school psychology with the College, shall receive an annual Professional Supervision Allowance of \$2,000 (two thousand) dollars. This allowance shall be pro-rated for Employees other than full-time.

# ARTICLE B.4. – DIAGNOSTIC ALLOWANCES

B.4.1 Psychology staff (psychologists and psychological associates who have the controlled act of diagnosis) designated by the Employer will receive an annual allowance of \$2,000 (two thousand) dollars.

# PART C - SENIORITY, LAYOFF AND RECALL

# ARTICLE C.1. - SENIORITY

- C.1.1. Seniority during Probationary Period
- C.1.1.1. An Employee will be considered probationary for the first six (6) months of active service in an established position (excluding temporary contract) and will have no seniority rights during that period.
- C.1.1.2. A written progress report on a probationary Employee's job performance will be provided at four (4) months by an appropriate supervisor.
- C.1.1.3. The Employer may extend this probationary period by two (2) school months by notifying the Bargaining Unit and the Employee in writing, and with the consent of the Bargaining Unit, for a further two (2) school months.
- C.1.1.4. After successful completion of the probationary period, an Employee's seniority shall date back to the day *on* which the Employee's last continuous employment began.
- C.1.2. Determination of Seniority
- C.1.2.1. Seniority applies only to Employees as defined in Article D.11.1.
- C.1.2.2. The determination of seniority for Employees as defined in Article D.11.1. shall be based on the date on which an Employee's last continuous employment began with the Employer and/or Predecessor Boards in a job classification within the Bargaining Unit as listed in Article A.3.. An Employee's transfer to another seniority group as set out in Article C.1.7.1. shall not affect the Employee's seniority date.
- C.1.2.3. Previous assignments within the Bargaining Unit under temporary contract, where such assignments occurred within the context of last continuous employment, shall be included in the determination of seniority
- C.1.2.4. Service, for seniority purposes, shall be deemed to be continuous:
- C.1.2.4.1. during regular school vacation periods
- C.1.2.4.2. during the first twenty-four (24) months of any absence due to illness, injury, lay-off or approved leave of absence set out in Article E.1.

- **C.1.3**. Agreement to Extend Times
- C.1.3.1. The twenty-four (24) month limit set out in C.1.2.4.2., C.1.6.1.3., C.1.6.1.4. and C.1.8. may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.
- C.1.4. Preparation of Seniority List
- C.1.4.1. The Employer shall maintain an annual seniority list showing each Employee's name, seniority ranking and job classification. An initial draft version of the list will be published by September 30<sup>th</sup> by making such initial draft version available for review through the designated regional representatives of the Bargaining Unit. Two (2) copies will also be forwarded to the President of the Bargaining Unit.
- C.1.4.2. Any objection to the accuracy of the initial draft version of the seniority list with respect to errors or updating will be submitted by the Bargaining Unit to the Employer by October 31<sup>st</sup>.
- C.1.4.3. The Employer undertakes to settle disputes regarding the initial draft version of the annual seniority list in an expedient manner and consistent with Article C.1.
- C.1.4.4. By October 31<sup>st</sup> annually, and prior to the publication of the annual seniority list as set out below on February 15<sup>th</sup>, a joint committee will be struck, with equal representation from the Employer and the Bargaining Unit, to verify the seniority list, identify and resolve ties.
- **C.1.4.5**. In compiling the seniority list, all ties shall be broken based on the following criteria:
- **C.1.4.5.1.** total experience in any job classification within the Bargaining Unit within any district school board in Ontario, first, then
- **C.1.4.5.2**. by lot, in a manner to be determined and completed by the Employer and the Bargaining Unit
- C.1.4.5.3. The Employer shall ensure that the documentation referred to in C.1.4.5.1. shall be requested from newly-hired Employees and that any documentation provided is placed in the Employee's personnel file.
- C.1.4.6. The order of ranking of ties, once established, as per Articles C.1.4.5., C.1.4.5.1., C.1.4.5.2., and C.1.4.5.3. shall not be altered.

- C.1.4.7. Any objection as to the accuracy of the seniority list with respect to errors or updating will be submitted by the Bargaining Unit to the Employer in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of the posting of the seniority list.
- C.1.4.8. An Employee for whom no written objection is raised with respect to his/her seniority ranking shall have his/her seniority ranking confirmed as stated.
- C.1.5. Publication of Seniority List
- C.1.5.1. Following the verification period and the resolution of any disputes between the Employer and the Bargaining Unit, the Employer will publish a final seniority list by February 15<sup>th</sup>, with copies available through the designated representatives of the Bargaining Unit and in the office of the Bargaining Unit President.
- C.1.5.2. The annual seniority list shall remain in effect until the publication by February 15<sup>th</sup> of the succeeding year of a new annual seniority list.
- C.1.5.3. In the event that the Employer implements any job action affected by seniority prior to February 15<sup>th</sup>, the Employer will take into consideration any filed seniority objections if the resolution of such objections affects the determination of Employees for consideration.
- C.1.5.4. The timelines set out above may be amended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.
- C.1.6. Termination of Employment and Seniority
- C.1.6.1. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, seniority shall terminate, and termination of employment shall be confirmed, when an Employee:
- C.1.6.1.1. resigns
- C.1.6.1.2. is discharged for just cause and is not reinstated through the Grievance Procedures or arbitration
- C.1.6.1.3. has been on layoff for a continuous period of more than twenty-four (24) months
- C.1.6.1.4. has been on a leave of absence for a continuous period of more than twenty-four (24) months

- C.1.6.1.5. has been on lay-off for a continuous period of less than twenty-four (24) months and, when notified of recall by registered mail addressed to the Employee's last place of residence recorded with the Employer, fails to notify the Employer of intent to return to work. The recalled Employees shall be given ten (10) working days following receipt of the recall letter to notify the Employer of the intention to return to work. The Employee shall have up to ten (10) working days to return to work following notification of the intent to return to work, unless evidence of inability to report for work because of legitimate illness or other reasonable cause is furnished by the Employee
- C.1.6.1.6. fails to return to work immediately after the expiration of a leave of absence unless prevented from doing so by illness or other reasonable cause
- C.1.6.1.7. is absent from work without leave for more than five **(5)** consecutive working days, unless, in the judgement of the Employer, there was reasonable justification for such absence, and providing that nothing shall prevent the Employer from granting an extension of such time, if the circumstances so warrant.

Note re: Seniority During Pregnancy, Parental and Infant/Child Care Leaves (see Articles E.1.4. and E.1.6.)

# C.1.7. Seniority Groups

C.1.7.1. For the publication of the seniority list and the application of any action affected by seniority rights, Employees will be divided in the following job classifications:

**Attendance Counsellors** 

Court Liaison Workers (to be reviewed September 2006)

Child and Youth Workers

**Educational Audiologists** 

Multilingual Team Leaders

Occupational Therapists/Physiotherapists

Occupational Therapists

**Physiotherapists** 

Psychology

**Psychologists** 

**Psychological Associates** 

Psycho-educational Consultants

**Social Workers** 

Speech-Language Pathologists

Student Equity Program Advisor

- C.1.7.2. In determining the appropriate seniority group, the Employee's membership or eligibility to become a member of a college or governing body for the profession in question, current employment and past experience in the above job classifications.
- C.1.7.3. There will be no interchange between the above seniority groups as a result of application of seniority. However, if job openings occur in a seniority group, qualified Employees in another seniority group who have received notice of layoff will be given the opportunity to apply for such job openings.
- C.1.8. Term Appointments Beyond Bargaining Unit
- C.1.8.1. The selection and promotion of Employees to positions beyond the Bargaining Unit is not governed by this Agreement and as such, all rights of membership cease save and except accrual of seniority as set out in C.1.2.3.
- C.1.8.2. The Employer will confirm annually with the Bargaining Unit information regarding Employees affected under C.1.8.
- C.1.8.3. At the time of such selection and promotion, the Employee will be advised of the terms of his/her status within the Bargaining Unit.
- C.1.8.4. For staffing purposes, upon their return to the Bargaining Unit, such Employees will be placed in positions within the Bargaining Unit consistent with their qualifications.
- C.1.8.5. Employees selected and promoted to positions beyond the Bargaining Unit will be considered to be on leave from the Bargaining Unit and will be given the option of returning to their position at the end of their appointment with uninterrupted seniority by choosing to continue to pay dues to OSSTF based on the last year of salary earned as a member of the Bargaining Unit. This arrangement would be available for a period of up to two (2) years.
- C.1.8.5.1. Union dues shall be paid annually in quarterly installments by post-dated cheques prior to the commencement of the term appointment and/or renewal of the term appointment.

# ARTICLE C.2. – LAYOFF, RECALL AND TERMINATION

- C.2.1. As a general rule, the terms "layoff and "recall" apply only to Employees as defined in Article D.11.1.
- C.2.1.1. Layoff of Employees as defined in Article D.11.1. shall be based on seniority, with an Employee with less seniority being laid off prior to an Employee with more seniority.
- C.2.1.2. Probationary Employees within a seniority group shall be laid off prior to any notification of layoff to a Permanent Employee within the seniority group.
- C.2.1.3. Where the Employer determines to layoff one or more Permanent Employees, the Employer will:
- C.2.1.3.1. provide notice to the Bargaining Unit that such action will be taken within ten (10) working days of the decision being made.
- C.2.1.3.2. provide at least four (4) weeks' written notice to the affected Employees.
- C.2.2. After a layoff, Employees shall be recalled in accordance with their seniority ranking within their job classifications, provided they have necessary ability, knowledge, certification and skill to perform the jobs available. On recall, should the Employer determine that a specific educational/registration/certification qualifications is a requirement for the position to which an Employee is being recalled, the Employer and the Bargaining Unit agree to meet to discuss the Employer's needs regarding the Educational/registration/certification requirement. If the parties agree that the educational/registration/certification requirement is necessary, then qualifications will be used as a criteria for recall. If the parties disagree that the educational/certification/registration requirement is necessary, then the Bargaining Unit may refer the issue to expedited arbitration for resolution.
- C.2.3. Employees who are laid off shall have the right to recall for twenty-four (24) months following the date of their lay-off.
- C.2.4. Recall shall be by means of a registered letter sent to the last address of the Employee according to the Employee's records. Employer obligation ceases if the Employee refuses or fails to notify the Employer of the Employee's intention to return to work. The recalled Employee shall be given ten (10) working days following receipt of the recall letter to notify the Employer of the intention to return to work. The Employee shall have up to ten (10) working days to return to work following notification of the intent to return to work.

- C.2.5. The Employer shall furnish the Bargaining Unit with copies of all layoff and recall notices on the same day as the letters are mailed.
- C.2.6. Where the Employer determines to end an Employee's Temporary Contract prior to the scheduled date because of a downsizing in that job classification, the Employer will:
- C.2.6.1. provide notice to the Bargaining Unit that such action will be taken within ten (10) working days of the decision being made;
- C.2.6.2. provide at least four **(4)** week's written notice to the Temporary Employee that the Temporary Contract will end.
- C.2.6.3. notwithstanding the above, in any downsizing, Temporary Employees shall be terminated prior to the layoff of Permanent Employees.

# **PART D-WORKING CONDITIONS**

# ARTICLE D.1. - EMPLOYEE'S FILES

- D.1.1. An Employee will be allowed to review and receive copies of the Employee's personnel file during normal business hours, upon prior written request to the person designated by the Employer. Such review must be made in the presence of a member of the Employee Services' staff at a time that is mutually arranged between the Employee Services' staff and the Employee concerned.
- D.1.2. The Employee may be accompanied by a Bargaining Unit or OSSTF representative.
- D.1.3. If the Employee disputes the accuracy or completeness of any such information, other than a performance appraisal, the Employer shall, where possible within fifteen (15) days from receipt of a request by the Employee stating the alleged inaccuracy, either confirm or amend the information on record.
- D.1.3.1 In the case of a performance appraisal or a record of discipline, the Employee is entitled to attach a response.
- D.1.4. Where the Employer amends information under D.1.3., the Employer shall at the request of the Employee notify all persons who received a report based on the inaccurate information, upon the request of the Employee.
- D.1.5. Where the Employer does not amend the information under D.1.3. to the satisfaction of the Employee, the Employee is entitled to attach a letter outlining their position and concerns regarding the information in question and such letter shall be placed in, and remain in, the same file as contains the information in dispute.
- D.1.6. Other than those disciplinary actions referenced in D.1.6.1. below, Employees who are free of disciplinary action for a period of three (3) years, shall, upon written request, have any such previous complaints removed from their personnel files by management.
- D.1.6.1. The records of disciplinary actions for incidents determined to have posed a serious risk to the physical, emotional, or sexual well-being of staff or students, which have not been rescinded through the grievance or arbitration procedure, may be kept in the Employee's file. After five (5) years, upon written request by the Employee, the retention of such disciplinary actions shall be reviewed by the Executive Superintendent of Employee Services and a representative appointed by the Bargaining Unit.

- D.1.7. For the purposes of Article D.1., an Employee may give written consent for a Bargaining Unit or OSSTF representative to act on his/her behalf.
- D.1.8. When documentation is placed in the Employee's file, a copy shall be addressed or copied to the Employee. No record regarding an Employee shall be used in a grievance or disciplinary hearing unless it has been appropriately placed in the Employee's file.
- D.1.9. All performance appraisals and records of discipline shall be placed into the Employee's personnel file.

# **ARTICLE D.2. - POSTINGS**

- D.2.1. Where a vacancy for a permanent position, or a temporary position known from the outset to be greater than four **(4)** months duration occurs, the vacancy shall be posted for at least five (5) working days before the deadline date for application for the position.
- D.2.1.1. A copy of each job posting shall be sent to the President of the Bargaining Unit for posting on the Bargaining Unit website. Postings will also be done electronically as soon as administratively feasible.
- D.2.1.2. There shall be no job postings during July or August except in circumstances where operations so require, in which case the Employer shall make every effort to bring such postings to the attention of Employees in the job classification concerned and notify the Bargaining Unit President.
- D.2.1.3. Effective as soon as possible, all vacancies referred to in D.2.1. shall be posted on the intranet, in the regional offices of the Employer and at the head office of the Employer.
- D.2.2. Permanent Employees who express interest in the vacancies will be given first consideration for such vacancies. First consideration will be defined as a commitment for an interview. All candidates may be interviewed or short-listing of qualified Permanent Employees may be undertaken under the following conditions:
- D.2.2.1. Candidates are short-listed on the basis *of* seniority.
- D.2.2.2. Where there is a decision to short-list, the short-list will be six (6), provided *six* (6) or more Permanent Employees apply. If less than six (6) Permanent Employees apply, then the short-list will be all Permanent Employee applicants.
- D.2.3. Temporary and Occasional Employees who express interest in the vacancies will be given next consideration after Permanent Employees.

- D.2.3.1. Short-listing of qualified Temporary and Occasional Employees may be undertaken, provided that a minimum of two (2) applicants are interviewed.
- D.2.4. Nothing in this Article precludes the Employer from advertising opportunities internally and externally concurrently. Applicants external to the Bargaining Unit will not be interviewed until the selected internal qualified applicants have been interviewed or unless insufficient numbers of internal qualified applicants are available for consideration.
- D.2.5. All vacancies which require a job posting shall be posted no later than 10 working days after the positions become vacant and known to Employee Services.

# ARTICLE D.3. - JOB FLEXIBILITY

- D.3.1. Job Exchanges
- D.3.1.1. A Permanent Employee may request an exchange with another Permanent Employee of the same employment status, in the same job classification and holding appropriate credentials to take effect in the following school year. The Employer will advise Employees annually on the application process, criteria and timeline.
- D.3.2. Job Sharing
- D.3.2.1. A job sharing arrangement is defined as one in which two (2) permanent full-time Employees in the same job classification are approved to share one (1) full-time position for a defined period of one (1) year.
- D.3.2.2. Each year, the Employer will advise Employees on information, including timelines, criteria and application process, regarding potential jobsharing arrangements.
- D.3.2.3. The percentage of work time available to each of the two (2)participants will be subject to operational requirements, including the structure of the Employer's payroll system. The range of percentage arrangements available will be communicated to Employees as part of the application process.
- D.3.2.4. In the event that one (1) of the two (2) participants in a job sharing arrangement is unable to complete the term of the job sharing arrangement, due to illness or some other unforeseen circumstance, the remaining participant will return to full-time status. The Employer may consider other alternatives so as to not disrupt the continuity of assignment.

- D.3.3. Request by Full-time Employees to Reduce to Part-time
- D.3.3.1. Permanent Employees may request to reduce on a temporary basis their employment status from full-time to part-time. The usual definition of "part-time" will be "half-time"; however, in extraordinary circumstances, the Employer may agree to a different arrangement. The procedure for making such a request will be made known annually to Employees. The Employer shall notify the Bargaining Unit within ten (10) working days of any Employee whose job status has changed from full-time to part-time.
- D.3.3.2. Employees who change their status from full-time to part-time will retain the sick leave Credits they earned prior to the change. After the change in status, sick leave Credits earned will be prorated in relation to the amount of time worked.
- D.3.3.3. The cost of benefits for those Employees who change their status from full-time to part-time will be prorated in relation to the amount of time worked and if the Employee chooses to maintain full benefit coverage, the Employee will pay the balance of the premium cost of the plans.
- D.3.3.4. Requests to temporarily reduce status from full-time to part-time shall be made annually. The Employer agrees to allow the Employee to return to full-time employment at the end of the agreed-upon term of part-time service.

#### ARTICLE D.4. – JOBSECURITY

- D.4.1. Work Performed By Bargaining Unit Employees
- D.4.1.1. For the duration of this Agreement, no work which **is** performed by the Bargaining Unit Employees shall be contracted out if it results in the termination, layoff, or reduction of regularly scheduled hours of work or work week of an Employee at the time of the contracting out, or at any subsequent time, except to the extent to which such work is contracted out as at the date of signing of this Agreement.

It is understood that contracting out includes the direct use of services or programs provided by agencies external to the Employer not funded by the Ministry of Education.

- D.4.2. Volunteers/Co-op Students/Ontario Works
- D.4.2.1. No Employee shall be laid off or have their hours of work reduced owing to the use of volunteers, including Ontario Works Workfare (Community Participation), or co-op students.
- D.4.3. Coverage for Child And Youth Workers

D.4.3.1. The Employer will make every effort to replace Child and Youth Workers assigned to school-based programs who are absent with qualified Child and Youth Workers. The Employer will provide, on request of school Principals, the names of any qualified Child and Youth Workers on file for such replacement. The Employer shall endeavour to create a list of qualified replacement Child and Youth Workers during the term of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE D.5. - TEMPORARY CONTRACT

- D.5.1. A Temporary Employee shall be utilized as follows:
- D.5.1.1. to replace a Permanent Employee absent for a period greater than twenty (20) working days but whose return is expected;
- D.5.1.2. to fill a temporary position above complement created by time-limited funding, such as a funded pilot project. Employees who complete more than the equivalent of two (2) continuous work years in such a time-limited funded position shall be made a Permanent Employee.
- D.5.1.3. to fill a temporary short-term work assignment above complement during school recess periods.
- D.5.1.4. the case of Temporary Employees under D.5.3., to fill an on-going assignment within staff complement.
- D.5.2. All other job postings by the Employer shall be for permanent positions, unless otherwise agreed by the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.
- D.5.3. For positions that require registration (see Letter of Understanding) in a professional college, membership in the appropriate professional college will be required in order to be eligible for permanent status.

Note re: Increments during Temporary Contract- see Article B.1.5.3.

# ARTICLE D.6. - EMPLOYEE SECURITY

- D.6.1. Workplace Harassment
- D.6.1.1. The Employer shall provide upon request to an Employee of the Bargaining Unit existing policies regarding anti-discrimination.
- D.6.2. Liability Insurance Coverage for Employees

- D.6.2.1. The Employer shall maintain liability coverage in accordance with the standard policy issued by the Ontario School Boards' Insurance Exchange (OSBIE).
- D.6.2.2. The Employer shall inform the Bargaining Unit President of any changes to liability coverage which may impact requirements of all of the Professional Colleges to which the Bargaining Unit members must belong.
- D.6.2.3. No Bargaining Unit Employee shall be required to catheterize or to administer medication by injection to students.

# ARTICLE D.7. - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- D.7.1. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit share a desire to improve professional standards by providing Employees, where operationally feasible, with the opportunity to participate in seminars, workshops, short courses or similar programs to keep up-to-date with knowledge and skill in their respective fields. The Employer further recognizes that many of the Employees of the Bargaining Unit are members of professional colleges and are therefore required to update their knowledge and skills on a regular basis through participation in professional development.
- D.7.2. An individual Employee may, with the approval of the appropriate supervisory officer or designate, attend relevant professional development sessions. An Employee who attends such a session shall be deemed to be on duty with no loss of pay, benefits or seniority.
- D.7.3. An Employee invited to participate in a conference or convention in an official capacity, such as to present a formal address or to give a course related to the Employees field of employment, may, at the discretion of the Employer, be granted leave with pay for that purpose.
- D.7.4. The Employer acknowledges support for a professional development day each school year for Employees of the Bargaining Unit as a whole for the purpose of furthering professional development.
- D.7.4.1. The level of financial support shall be determined by the Employer with input from the Bargaining Unit.
- D.7.5. The scheduling of the professional development day shall coincide with one of the professional development days scheduled for either elementary or secondary teachers.

- D.7.5.1. The agenda for this professional development day will be determined through mutual agreement at a meeting of the Labour-Management Committee.
- D.7.6. Nothing herein precludes the additional presentation of workshops or seminars of interest to specific groups within the Bargaining Unit.

# ARTICLE D.8. – REIMBURSEMENT FOR EDUCATIONAL COURSES

D.8.1. When an Employee takes an educational course as a result of a request by the Employer, he/she shall be compensated for the tuition fee charged for the course.

# ARTICLE D.9. - CODE OF ETHICS

D.9.1. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit acknowledge the responsibility of Employees to comply with the codes of ethics of their respective regulatory bodies.

# ARTICLE D.10. - RESTRUCTURING COMMITTEE

- D.10.1. For the purposes of this Article, "restructuring" means any re-organization of the structure under which the Employer delivers its services which directly affects Employees in the following manner:
- D.10.1.1. The reduction of the number of Permanent Employees within a job classification of 33% or greater in one annual staffing year unless otherwise agreed to by mutual consent of both parties.
- D.10.1.2. the addition, or proposed addition, of a new job classification within the Bargaining Unit
- D.10.1.3. the amalgamation of **two** or more job classifications within the Bargaining Unit
- D.10.2. "Restructuring" does not include changes in staff allocations which occur as a result of the normal staffing processes involving filling the approved complement of positions.
- D.10.3. The Bargaining Unit will be provided a minimum of 60 calendar days notice of any intention to restructure as set out in D.10. 11.

- D.10.4. When the Employer has determined by resolution of the Board to restructure as set out in D.10.1., or decided to investigate the merits of a restructuring, it shall convene a staff committee consisting of at least three (3) Employer representatives and three (3) representatives of the Bargaining Unit who are members of the Bargaining Unit.
- D.10.4.1 The committee will meet within the notice period set out in D.10.3. to discuss the implementation of the Employer's decision to restructure. The Employer will provide the rationale for re-structuring. Meetings of the committee are intended to provide the Bargaining Unit with the opportunity to:
- D.10.4.1.1 provide input for a new service delivery model
- D.10.4.1.2 suggest implementation strategies, and
- D.10.4.1.3 suggest alternatives to layoff
- D.10.4.2 The numbers of representatives may be amended by mutual consent of the parties.
- D.10.5. Following the committee's deliberations, the Employer shall proceed to implement those changes it deems necessary and/or advisable.
- D.10.6. Nothing herein precludes the Bargaining Unit from directing reactions or concerns about the decision to restructure directly to appropriate person(s).

### ARTICLE D.11. -CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES

- D.11.1. Permanent:
- D.11.1.1. Full-time: an Employee hired on a permanent basis five (5) days per week for the work year.
- D.11.1.2. Part-time: an Employee hired on a permanent basis for less than five (5) days per week.
- D.11.2. Temporary Contract:
- D.11.2.1. an Employee engaged for a specific period of greater than twenty (20) working days in accordance with Article D.5.
- D.11.3. Occasional:
- D.11.3.1. an Employee engaged on a per diem basis to undertake specific short-term duties or to replace a Permanent Employee absent for a period of not more than twenty (20) consecutive working days.

D.11.3.1.1. on the twenty-first (21<sup>st</sup>) day of an assignment, the Employee will be considered as Temporary.

### ARTICLE D.12. – HOURS OF WORK

- D.12.1. The normal workweek shall be thirty-five (35) hours per week (exclusive of a lunch period), Monday to Friday inclusive.
- D.12.2. With input from the Bargaining Unit, the Employer shall develop a letter for annual distribution to Principals outlining working conditions for Child and Youth Workers who are program-based.
- D.12.3. The Employer shall endeavour to balance workload within each job classification in a reasonable and equitable manner.
- D.12.4 Should a Coordinator or Principal request a Permanent Employee to work beyond the normal scheduled work day, work week or work year to attend or participate in activities which are outside his/her regular daily responsibilities such as parent nights, workshop presentations and/or summer court appearances, the Employee shall be entitled to equivalent time off at a time mutually agreeable to the Coordinator or Principal and the Employee.

### ARTICLE D.13. – THEWORK YEAR

- D.13.1. The normal work year for Employees paid in Categories I IV of Appendix A shall be one hundred and ninety-four (194) days plus three (3) days; there three (3) days shall be scheduled by the Employer in consultation with each individual Employee.
- D.13.2. The normal work year for Employees paid in Category V of Appendix A shall be one hundred and ninety-four (194) days.

### ARTICLE D.14. -VACATION AND PAID HOLIDAYS

D.14.1. Salaries paid under this Agreement and listed in Appendix A include vacation pay and paid holiday pay for the following holidays:

Christmas Day
New Year's Day
Easter Monday
Canada Day

Boxing Day
Good Friday
Victoria Day
Labour Day

Thanksgiving Day

and other such days as may be specifically declared by by-law or statute.

- D.14.1.1. In addition, each Employee shall receive one (I) additional paid holiday from work in each work year to be designated by the Employer as follows:
- D.14.1.1.2. for an Employee assigned to a specific school or specific program location, in consultation with the Principal or Supervisor:

(Note: As a general rule, these Employees are required to schedule this day on one of the designated Professional Development Days, excluding the date chosen as the Bargaining Unit Professional Development Day, or any other day during the work year the students are not in school. The Principal may approve other arrangements).

D.14.1.1.3 for an Employee assigned regionally: in consultation with his/her Regional Co-ordinator.

### ARTICLE D.15. - HEALTH AND SAFETY

- D.15.1. The Employer recognizes its obligations under the Occupational Health and Safety Act, R.S.O. 1990 c.01 as amended from time to time. A Joint Health and Safety Committee will be established in accordance with the Act, which shall include representatives from the Bargaining Unit.
- D.15.2. The Bargaining Unit's representatives on any joint Health and Safety Committee shall be granted leave to attend meetings without loss of salary or benefits.

#### ARTICLE D.16. - SELF-FUNDED LEAVE PLAN

D.16.1. The Self-Funded Leave Plan shall be as set out in Appendix E.

### ARTICLE D.17. - ATTENDANCE MANAGEMENT

D.17.1 Prior to the implementation of an Attendance Management policy the Employer shall provide an opportunity to the Bargaining Unit to comment on such policy.

### PART E - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

### ARTICLE E.1 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

### E.1.1. General

- E.1.1.1. A permanent full-time or part-time Employee may request a leave of absence without pay and without **loss** of seniority. Such request shall be in writing on the designated form and may be approved by the Employer. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Employees who are granted leaves of absence or who are placed in leaves of absence without pay in excess of fifty (50) continuous working days shall not earn or receive benefits, sick leave credits, wages, salary or other compensation during the period of such leave of absence except as set out in this Agreement or as otherwise required under the <a href="Employment Standards Act">Employee</a> entitled to such leave in excess of fifty (50) continuous working days shall have the option of continuing coverage of all benefit plans at full cost to the Employee.
- E.1.1.2. Each year, the Employer will advise Employees on information regarding timelines for application and criteria.
- E.1.1.2.1. As part of the leave approval process, the Employee agrees to advise the Employer by a date designated annually of his/her intention to return to work following the leave period. If no such advice is received by the Employer, the Employee will be deemed to be returning to work on the scheduled return date.
- E.1.1.3. As part of the annual communication process regarding leaves of absence, Employees will be advised of their responsibilities for securing information respecting credit for pension purposes and payments when on leave for any reason.
- E.1.14. An Employee absent on leave for any reason who wishes to return to his/her assignment prior to the scheduled date of return must provide in writing at least four (4) weeks notice prior to returning. Any payments made to the Employee by the Employer during the leave will continue during the four (4) weeks notice period.

- E.1.2. Pregnancy Leave
- E.1.2.1. Eligibility A Pregnant Employee who started employment with her Employer at least thirteen (13) weeks before the expected birth date is entitled to a leave of absence without pay.
- E.1.2.2. When leave may begin An Employee may begin Pregnancy Leave no earlier than seventeen (17) weeks before the expected birth date.
- E.1.2.3. Notice The Employee must give the Employer at least two (2) weeks written notice of the date the leave is to begin; and a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating the expected birth date.
- E.1.2.4. Special circumstances Clause E.1.2.3. does not apply in the case of an Employee who stops working because of complications caused by her pregnancy or cause of a birth, still-birth or miscarriage that happens earlier than the Employee was expected to give birth.
- E.1.2.5. Notice in special circumstances An Employee described in E.1.2.4. must within two (2) weeks of stopping work, give the Employer written notice of the date the Pregnancy Leave began or is to begin a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner that in the case of an Employee who stops working because of complications caused by her pregnancy, states the Employee is unable to perform her duties because of complications caused by her pregnancy and states the expected birth date, or in any other case, states the date of the birth, still-birth or miscarriage and the date the Employee was expected to give birth.
- E.1.2.6. End of Pregnancy Leave if Parental Leave available The Pregnancy Leave of an Employee who is entitled to take Parental Leave ends seventeen (17) weeks after the Pregnancy Leave began.
- E.1.2.7. End of Pregnancy Leave if Parental Leave not available The Pregnancy Leave of an Employee who is not entitled to take Parental Leave ends on the later of the day that is seventeen (17) weeks after the Pregnancy Leave began or the day that is six (6) weeks after the birth, still-birth or miscarriage.
- E.1.2.8. End of Pregnancy Leave on Employee notice The Pregnancy Leave of an Employee ends on a day earlier than the day provided for in E.1.2.6. or E.1.2.7. if the Employee gives the Employer at least four (4) weeks written notice of that day.
- E.1.2.9. Nothing herein precludes an Employee from receiving sick leave pay, if eligible for such and if absent because of complications arising out of her pregnancy or post-delivery recovery period or subsequent to Pregnancy Leave or a combined Pregnancy and Parental Leave.

- E.1.2.10. For information regarding payment of contributions to benefit plans and seniority during Pregnancy Leaves, please see Article E.1.4.
- E.1.3. Parental Leave

Note: The following provisions regarding length of Parental Leave apply to Employees who became new parents of a child who was born or first came into their care on or after December 31, 2000.

- E.1.3.1. Eligibility An Employee who has been employed by his or her Employer for at least thirteen (13) weeks before the date the Employee's leave is expected to start and who is the parent of a child is entitled to a leave of absence without pay following:
- E.1.3.1.1. the birth of the child; or
- E.1.3.1.2. the coming of the child into the custody, care and control of the Employee for the first time.
- E.1.3.2. Restriction on when leave may begin Parental Leave may begin no more than fifty-two (52) weeks after the day the child is born or comes into the Employee's custody, care and control for the first time.
- E.1.3.3. When mother's parental leave may begin Parental Leave of an Employee who takes a Pregnancy Leave must begin when her Pregnancy Leave ends unless the child has not yet come into her custody, care and control for the first time.
- **E.**1.3.4. *Notice* The Employee must give the Employer at least two (2) weeks written notice of the date the leave is to begin.
- E.1.3.5. Special circumstances Clause E.1.3.4. does not apply in the case of an Employee who is the parent of a child and who stops working because the child comes into the custody, care and control of a parent for the first time sooner than expected. In such circumstances the Parental Leave of an Employee begins on the day the Employee stops working and the Employee must give the Employer written notice that the Employee wishes to take leave within two (2) weeks after the Employee stops working.
- E.1.3.6. End ofparental leave Parental Leave ends thirty-five (35) weeks after it began if the Employee also took Pregnancy Leave and thirty-seven (37) weeks after it began otherwise, or on an earlier day if the Employee gives the Employer at least four (4) weeks written notice of that day.
- E.1.3.7. Change of notice to begin leave An Employee who has given notice to begin Pregnancy Leave or Parental Leave may change the notice:

- E.1.3.7.1. to an earlier date if the Employee gives the Employer at least two (2) weeks written notice before the earlier date; or
- E.1.3.7.2. to a later date if the Employee gives the Employer at least two (2) weeks written notice before the date the leave is to begin.
- E.1.3.8. Change of notice to end leave An Employee who has given notice to end the leave may change the notice:
- E.1.3.8.1. to an earlier date if the Employee gives the Employer at least four (4) weeks written notice before the earlier date; or
- **E.**1.3.8.2. to a later date if the Employee gives the Employer at least four (4) weeks written notice before the date the leave was to end.
- E.1.3.9. For the purpose of this Article, "parent" includes a person with whom a child is placed for adoption and a person who is in a relationship of some permanence with the parent of a child and who intends to treat the child as his or her own.
- E. 14. Benefits and Seniority During Pregnancy and Parental Leave
- E.1.4.1. The Employer will continue to pay its share of contributions, to a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks, to any benefit plans in which the Employee is enrolled prior to his/her commencement of Pregnancy and/or Parental Leave, provided that the Employee continues to pay his/her share of such benefits if applicable.
- E.1.4.2. Seniority will continue to accrue during Pregnancy and/or Parental Leave.
- E.1.4.3. Experience shall be accrued during Pregnancy and/or Parental Leaves for salary purposes and Employees shall be eligible for increments while on the accrued Pregnancy and/or Parental Leave.
- E.1.4.4. A permanent full-time or part-time Employee granted Pregnancy or adoption Leave and who complies with the requirements of Appendix B shall be compensated in accordance with Appendix B for the two (2) week waiting period for Employment Insurance Benefits.
- E.1.4.5. If an eligible Employee holds more than one position with the Employer, such Employee shall only be eligible to collect SEB payments on one position.

- E.1.5. Infant Carelchild Care Leave
- E.1.5.1. A permanent full-time or part-time Employee eligible for Parental Leave under E.1.3. may apply for Infant Carelchild Care Leave.
- E.1.5.2. The Employer shall grant to eligible support staff a leave of absence without pay, to be known as Infant Carelchild Care Leave which will provide:
- E.1.5.2.1. the mother, up to fifty-two (52) additional weeks immediately following the combined Pregnancy and Parental Leave; or
- E.1.5.2.2. the father, up to sixty-seven (67) additional weeks immediately following the Parental Leave.
- E. 15.3. Application for Infant Carelchild Care Leave must be made at the same time as an Employee applies for Parental Leave or not later than thirty (30) days before the Infant Care/Child Care Leave is to begin.
- E.1.5.4. In the application for Infant CareIchild Care Leave a permanent full-time or part-time Employee must specify the time at which he/she intends to commence his/her leave and the time at which he/she intends to resume his/her duties with the Employer.
- E.1.5.5. Once Infant Carelchild Care Leave has been granted it shall not be extended.
- E.1.5.6. Once Infant CareIchild Care Leave has been granted, it shall not be rescinded except at the discretion of the Director.
- E.1.5.7. An Employee granted Infant Carelchild Care Leave shall, before going on such leave, execute an agreement with the Employer, consistent with the Agreement to remain in the employ of the Employer for a period equal to the length of the leave following the Employee's return from leave.
- E.1.5.8. An Employee who has received benefits under the provisions of Appendix **B** shall, upon expiration of such leave(s) return to work and remain in the service of the Employer for a minimum period of three (3) months.
- E. 16. Benefits and Seniority During Infant Carelchild Care Leave
- E.1.6.1. An Employee on Infant CareIchild Care Leave may opt to continue payment to his/her share and the Employer's share of contributions to any benefit plans in which he/she is enrolled prior to the commencement of the Infant CareIchild Care Leave. Payment shall be made through pre-authorized bank withdrawal.

- E.1.6.2. Seniority shall accrue during Infant Care/Child Care Leave.
- E.1.6.3. Experience shall be accrued for salary purposes and Employees returning from leave shall be placed at the step on the grid to which their service with the Employer, including Infant Care/Child Care Leave, entitles them.
- E.1.7. Returning To Work From Pregnancy and/or Parental and/or Infant Care/Child Care Leaves
- E.1.7.1. An Employee returning from any leave under this Article will be returned to his/her position, if it exists, or to a comparable position if it does not. This provision is subject to surplus/layoff provisions in Article C.2. of this Agreement.

Note re: Early return from leave - see Article E. I.1.4.

- E.1.8. Leave for Bargaining Unit or OSSTF Business
- E.1.8.1. An Employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position with the Bargaining Unit or OSSTF shall be granted a full-time leave of absence by the Employer without **loss** of salary and benefits and without **loss** of seniority. Such leave shall be renewed each year, on request, during his/her term of office. In no event can more than two (2) Employees be on such leave at any one time.
- E.1.8.1.1. During leaves of absence described in E.1.8.1. the Employee's regular rate of salary (including allowances) and insured benefits shall be continued by the Employer and the OSSTF will reimburse the Employer for such costs. The Employer will make arrangements with the Bargaining Unit regarding sick leave credit allotments.
- E.1.8.1.2. The Bargaining Unit shall notify the Employer of the names of members to receive such Bargaining Unit or OSSTF leave. Reasonable notice of such leave will be provided.
- E.1.9. Miscellaneous Leave
- E.1.9.1. The Miscellaneous Leave Plan shall be as set out in Appendix C.
- E.1.9.2. A Permanent Employee absent from his/her duties because of circumstances relating to incidents of violence may apply for Miscellaneous Leave without deductions of salary or Sick Leave Credits under clause 4(e) of "Miscellaneous Leave" of Appendix C.

- E.1.10. Family Medical Leave
- E.1.10.1 An Employee is entitled to a leave of absence without pay of up to eight (8) weeks to provide care or support to an individual described in ArticleE.1.10.1.1. if the attending qualified physician issues a certificate stating that the individual has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death occurring within a period of 26 weeks.
- E.1.10.1.1. Article E.1.10.1. applies in respect of the following individuals:
  - 1. the Employee's spouse;
  - 2. a parent, step-parent or foster parent of the Employee;
  - 3. a child, step-child or foster child of the Employee or the Employee's spouse.
  - 4. Prescribed family members as may be permitted under the Employment Standards Act.
- E.1.10.1.2. The Employee may begin the leave no earlier than the first day of the week in which the period referred to in Article E.1.10.1. begins.
- E.1.10.1.3. The Employee may not remain on a leave under Article E.1.10.1. after the earlier of the following dates:
  - 1. The last day of the week in which the family member dies;
  - 2. The last day of the week in which the period referred to in Article E.1.10.1. ends.
- E.1.10.1.4. Notwithstanding Article E.1.10.1., if two (2) or more TDSB employees take leaves under Article E.1.10.1. in respect of a particular individual, the total of the leaves taken by all employees shall not exceed eight (8) weeks during the twenty-six (26) week period referred to in Article E.1.10.1.
- E.1.10.1.5. An Employee may take a leave under this Article only in periods of entire weeks.
- E.1.10.1.6 Employees who wish to take leave under Article E.1.10.1. will advise the Employer in writing using the appropriate forms. The Employee will be required to include a copy of the certificate referred to in Article E.1.10.1. with the form. If the Employee must begin the leave before advising the Employer, the Employee shall advise the Employer of the leave verbally and in writing using the appropriate forms as soon as possible after beginning the leave

- E.1.10.1.7. An Employee may apply for more than one Family Medical Leave in respect to the same family member.
- E.1.10.1.8. Upon the expiry of the Family Medical Leave, the Employee may request a leave of absence under Article E.1.1 during the twenty-six (26) week period referred to in Article E.1.10.1..
- E.1.10.1.9. In accordance with the <u>Employment Standards Act</u> or to a maximum of eight (8) weeks whichever is greater, the Employer will continue to pay its share of contributions, to any benefit plans in which the Employee is enrolled prior to his/her commencement of Family Medical Leave, provided that the Employee continues to pay his/her share of such benefits if applicable.
- E.1.10.1.10. During Family Medical Leave:
  - (i) Seniority will continue to accrue.
  - (ii) Service will continue to accrue for the purposes of sick leave entitlement and allotment.
- E.1.10.1.11. Experience shall be accrued during Family Medical Leave for salary purposes and Employees shall be eligible for increments while on accrued Family Medical Leave.

### ARTICLE E.2. – INSURED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

- E.2.1. For the purposes of this Article, an eligible Employee is an Employee who is at work or on an approved leave of absence with pay or an Employee who is on an unpaid absence from work for fifty (50) continuous normal working days or less or where an Employee is eligible under Statute.
- E.2.2. It is the responsibility of each Employee to advise the Employer in writing of any change in marital or family status and to request changes in benefits coverage within thirty-one (31) calendar days of such change in status.
- E.2.3. Benefit Eligibility
- E.2.3.1. Article E.2. does not apply to occasional Employees.
- E.2.3.2. Temporary full-time and part-time Employees in positions of greater than four **(4)** months duration shall be eligible to participate in the Semi-Private Hospital Plan, the Extended Health Care Plan, and the Dental Care Plan; the premium cost paid by the Employer for a part-time temporary Employee shall be determined in accordance with clause E.2.3.3.1.

- E.2.3.2.1. Notwithstanding E.2.3.2. above, Temporary Employees who are already enrolled in the Employer's Benefit Plans as a result of Article E.2.4. Provision for Retired Employees should contact Employee Services Employee Benefits, at the time of hire to a temporary contract, to review any implications involved in choosing benefits under different plan arrangements. The Employer shall provide a written notice to retired members who have applied for a temporary position of such implications.
- E.2.3.3. Part-time Employees shall be entitled to participate in the Insured Employee Benefit Plans that are available to full-time Employees.
- E.2.3.3.1. The portion of the premium cost paid by the Employer for a part-time Employee shall be determined as follows:

(part time regularly scheduled hours / full-time regularly scheduled hours) x Employer share of the cost for a full-time Employee

- E.2.3.3.2. The Employee shall pay the remainder of the premium cost.
- E.2.4. Provision for Retired Employees
- E.2.4.1. If there is no increased cost to the Employer, a permanent Employee who retires from the Employer prior to age sixty-five (65) may retain coverage under any of the Insured Employee Benefit Plans to which the Employee belongs at the time of retirement until the Employee attains the age of sixty-five (65) years.
- E.2.4.1.1. The retired Employee shall pay the full cost of the benefits premiums.
- E.2.4.2. If approved by the insurance underwriters and if there is no increased cost in premium to the Employer, the spouse of a deceased Employee may retain membership in any of the Group Benefit Plans to which the Employee belonged at the time of death. The spouse may retain membership until such time as the deceased would have attained the age of 65 or the spouse remarries, whichever occurs first. The spouse of the deceased Employee shall pay the full premium cost to maintain participation under the group contracts.
- E.2.5. Semi-private Hospital Plan
- E.2.5.1. The Employer shall contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost of the Semi-private Hospital Care Plan for all eligible, full-time Employees who have enrolled in coverage under the Plan.

- E.2.6. Extended Health Care Plan
- E.2.6.1. The Employer shall contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost of an Extended Health Care Plan with a calendar year deductible feature of \$25.00 per individual and \$50.00 per family for all eligible full-time Employees who have enrolled in coverage under the Plan.
- E.2.6.2. Subject to the above deductible, the Plan also includes:
- E.2.6.2.1. hearing aid benefits to a maximum of \$500.00 per person per three (3) year period;
- E.2.6.2.2. Effective December 1, 2005, eyeglasses (or contact lenses) benefits to a maximum of \$250 per person per two (2) year period, and
- E.2.6.2.2.1. Effective September 1, 2006, eyeglasses (or contact lenses) benefits to a maximum of \$275 per person per two (2) year period, and
- E.2.6.2.2.2. Effective September ,2007, eyeglasses (or contact lenses) benefits to a maximum of \$300 per person per two (2) year period.
- E.2.6.2.3. Over-the-counter drugs that do not normally require a prescription will be covered only if they are "life-sustaining" based on the patient's medical condition;
- E.2.6.2.4. Where a generic alternative exists for a brand-name drug, reimbursement will be based on the cost of the generic drug.
- E.2.6.2.5. Orthotic coverage is limited to two (2) pairs over two (2) calendar years with a maximum payment of \$950.00 in total.
- E.2.7. Dental Care Plan
- E.2.7.1. The Employer shall contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a Dental Care Plan for all eligible full-time Employees who have enrolled in coverage under the Plan.
- E.2.7.2. The Dental Care Plan shall include the following provisions:
- E.2.7.2.1. a Basic plan reimbursed at one hundred percent (100%) of the designated Schedule of Fees with a maximum of \$5,000.00 per person per calendar year.
- E.2.7.2.2. an optional Major Restorative and Orthodontic plan reimbursed at the following levels of the designated Dental Fee Guide:

- eighty percent (80%) of eligible major restorative services subject to a maximum, when combined with the basic plan, of \$10,000.00 per person per calendar year;
- E.2.7.2.2.2 fifty percent (50%) of eligible orthodontic services with a maximum of \$1,000.00 per person per calendar year, subject to a lifetime maximum of \$2,000.00.
- E.2.7.3. The benefit shall pay for a routine dental visit not more than once every nine (9) months.
- E.2.7.4. Effective December 1, 2005, the benefits will be based upon the 2001 Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees for General Practitioners.
- E.2.7.4.1. Effective September 1, 2006, the benefits will be based upon the 2002 Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees for General Practitioners.
- E.2.7.4.2. Effective September 1, 2007, the benefits will be based upon the 2003 Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees for General Practitioners.
- E.2.8. Group Life Insurance Plan
- E.2.8.1. The Employer shall contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the first \$35,000 of Group Life Insurance coverage, plus seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost of coverage amount elected by the Plan member over the first \$35,000 up to the Plan maximum indicated below for all eligible full-time Employees.
- E.2.8.2. The Group Life Insurance Plan will provide optional coverage amounts subject to a minimum of \$35,000 and a maximum of \$160,000 for all eligible full-time Employees who have enrolled in coverage.
- E.2.8.3 Effective December 1, 2005, introduction of optional coverage of \$200,000.

Employee to pay 100% of the premium for coverage in excess of \$160,000.

Employees with coverage of \$160,000 at the time of ratification who opt for additional coverage will not be required to provide medical proof.

The premium rate for coverage in excess of \$160,000 will be higher than the premium rate for any amount up to \$160,000.

- E.2.9. Long Term Disability Plan
- E.2.9.1. The Employer shall contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost of the Long Term Disability Plan for all eligible full-time Employees who have enrolled in coverage.
- E.2.9.2. **A** new Employee will be subject to a six (6) month eligibility waiting period prior to enrolment in the Long Term Disability Plan.
- E.2.9.3. The Long Term Disability Plan provides seventy percent (70%) of normal earnings.
- E.2.9.4. Upon approval of the application for benefits under the Long Term Disability Plan, benefits will be based on the Employee's salary as of six (6) months from the onset of disability.
- E.2.9.5. Benefits under the Long Term Disability Plan shall include annual adjustments effective January 1, for Employees who have received twenty-four (24) payments in the period prior to January 1. The formula for adjustment shall be C.P.I. (Canada Wide 1986 = 100)\* from September to September minus one percent (1%) with a maximum adjustment to payments of four percent (4%) in any one (1) year. There will be no "double indexing".
- E.2.9.6. Subject to the approval of the insurance companies, and, if there is no increased cost to the Employer, the Employer's share of the premium cost of the Semi-Private Hospital Care and the Extended Health Care benefit Plans will be continued during the period that an Employee is receiving benefits under the Long Term Disability Plan, provided the Employee had such coverage prior to the onset of disability.
- E.2.9.7. In order to maintain benefits under the Long Term Disability Plan, the Employee must co-operate with a reasonable and customary treatment plan related to the disability condition when such a treatment plan is recommended by the Plan Administrator and approved by the attending physician.

- E.2.10. Employment Insurance Commission Rebate
- E.2.10.1. In consideration of the provision of the Employee benefits package, the Bargaining Unit, on behalf of the Employees, releases the Employer from any obligation it might have hereafter to pay to Employees an employment insurance commission rebate available because of the existence of a wage **loss** plan (sick leave plan). Such rebate shall be used by the Employer to defray part of the costs of this section.
- E.2.10.2. As soon as administratively feasible, the Employer shall send an accounting of how the Employment Insurance Rebates were applied against the cost of benefits for the Bargaining Unit.
- E.2.11 Brochures
- E.2.11.1 Employer benefits brochures shall be provided by the Employer to all Employees who are eligible for benefits, at time of hire or upon request.

### ARTICLE E.3. - PENSION

- E.3.1. The pension schemes presently in force shall be continued and participation will be mandatory for all Permanent Employees with any required Employee contributions, if applicable, being deducted through bi-weekly payroll deduction.
- E.3.1.1. Employees who are not permanent and who are eligible to enroll in the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System shall be given the opportunity to do, subject to the requirements set out in the <u>Pension Benefits Act.</u>
- E.3.1.2. Employees who are not permanent and who are required to enroll in the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan shall be enrolled at the time of hire to a temporary contract.

### ARTICLE E.4. - SICK LEAVE PLAN

- E.4.1. Permanent Employees
- E.4.1.1. The Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan included in Appendix C shall apply to eligible full-time Employees. The Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan shall apply to eligible part-time Employees on a pro-rated basis.

### E.4.2. Temporary Employees

- E.4.2.1. Temporary Employees appointed for a full work year on a full-time basis shall be credited with two (2) sick leave days per month which may be used for absence with pay due to illness; such sick leave days shall be cumulative from month to month for the duration of a temporary assignment to a yearly maximum consistent with that available to Permanent Employees. The use of sick leave days under this provision ceases at the end of the term of the assignment of a Temporary Employee.
- E.4.2.1.1. Temporary Employees who work for less than a work year and/or less than full-time shall be credited with a pro-rated equivalent.
- E.4.2.2. Bereavement Leave shall be granted by the Director or designate, without **loss** of salary, for up to three (3) days to a Temporary Employee at the time of the death of a member of the Temporary Employee's immediate family, in order for the Temporary Employee to make arrangements for, and attend the funeral of, such family member. Immediate family shall mean parents, parent-in-law, guardians, spouse, children, brothers, sisters, grandparents, and grandchildren.
- E.4.2.3. A Temporary Employee may be absent without **loss** of salary but with deduction from sick leave days for one (1) religious holy day (pro-rated to a half day if the Temporary Employee works less than full-time) per school year during any temporary assignment.

### ARTICLE E.5. -- STORAGE OF MEDICAL FILES

E.5.1. The Employer shall ensure that all medical records and information are stored in a secure location and in a completely confidential manner.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Employer has caused to be fixed hereto its seal attested to by the heads of its proper officers duly authorized in that behalf and the Union has by the hands of its duly authorized representatives executed this Agreement.

Dated this 6th day of March 2006

The Toronto District School Board

Chair

Director of Education and Secretary-Treasure

Chief Negotiator - Support Staff

Unit A (Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation representing the Professional Student Services Personnel Bargaining Unit, District 12)

Ken Jeffers, President

Olga DeMelo, Chief Negotiator

Jack lones, OSSTF Provincial Officer

# **Appendices**

# **APPENDIX A (WAGES)**

## Schedule of Wages

AUGUST 31, 2004						
STEP	CATI	CATII	CAT III	CAT IV	CATV	
0	54,672	50,024	44,448	43,471	33,042	
1	57,468	52,584	46,739	45,712	34,442	
2	60,264	55,144	48,995	47,935	35,825	
3	63,077	57,721	51,270	50,124	37,242	
4	65,856	60,247	53,527	52,363	38,643	
5	68,651	62,824	55,817	54,588	40,027	
6	71,464	65,350	58,073	56,812	41,411	
7	74,244	67,927	60,365	59,034		
8	77,040	70,487	62,637	61,257		
9	79,834	73,047	64,896	63,463		

SEPTEMBER 1, 2004						
STEP	CATI	CATII	CATIII	CAT IV	CATV	
0	55,765	51,024	45,337	44,340	33,703	
1	58,617	53,636	47,674	46,626	35,131	
2	61,469	56,247	49,975	48,894	36,542	
3	64,339	58,875	52,295	51,126	37,987	
4	67,173	61,452	54,598	53,410	39,416	
5	70,024	64,080	56,933	55,680	40,828	
6	72,893	66,657	59,234	57,948	42,239	
7	75,729	69,286	61,572	60,215		
8	78,581	71,897	63,890	62,482		
9	81,431	74,508	66,194	64,732		

AUGUST 31, 2005					
STEP	CATI	CATII	CAT III	CAT IV	CAT V
0	55,888	51,136	45,437	44,438	33,777
1	58,746	53,754	47,779	46,729	35,208
2	61,604	56,371	50,085	49,002	36,622
3	64,481	59,005	52,410	51,238	38,071
4	67,321	61,587	54,718	53,528	39,503
5	70,178	64,221	57,058	55,802	40,918
6	73,053	66,804	59,364	58,075	42,332
7	75,896	69,438	61,707	60,347	
8	78,754	72,055	64,031	62,619	
9	81,610	74,672	66,340	64,874	

0 5 1 5 2 6 3 6 4 6 5 7 7 7 8 8	CAT I 57,006 59,921 62,836 65,771 68,667 71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 33,242 BER 1,	52,159 54,829 57,498 60,185 62,819 65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	CAT III  46,346  48,735  51,087  53,458  55,812  58,199  60,551  62,941  65,312  67,667	CAT IV 45,327 47,664 49,982 52,263 54,599 56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871 66,171	CAT V 34,453 35,912 37,354 38,832 40,293 41,736 43,179
1 5 2 6 3 6 4 6 5 7 7 7 8 8	59,921 52,836 55,771 68,667 71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 83,242	54,829 57,498 60,185 62,819 65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	48,735 51,087 53,458 55,812 58,199 60,551 62,941 65,312	47,664 49,982 52,263 54,599 56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871	35,912 37,354 38,832 40,293 41,736
2 6 3 6 4 6 5 7 7 7 7 8 8 8	62,836 65,771 68,667 71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 33,242	57,498 60,185 62,819 65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	51,087 53,458 55,812 58,199 60,551 62,941 65,312	49,982 52,263 54,599 56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871	37,354 38,832 40,293 41,736
3 6 4 6 5 7 6 7 7 7 8 8	65,771 68,667 71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 83,242	60,185 62,819 65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	53,458 55,812 58,199 60,551 62,941 65,312	52,263 54,599 56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871	38,832 40,293 41,736
4 6 7 6 7 7 7 8 8 8	68,667 71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 33,242 BER 1,	62,819 65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	55,812 58,199 60,551 62,941 65,312	54,599 56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871	40,293 41,736
5 7 6 7 7 7 8 8	71,582 74,514 77,414 80,329 33,242 BER 1,	65,505 68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	58,199 60,551 62,941 65,312	56,918 59,237 61,554 63,871	41,736
6 7 7 7 8 8	74,514 77,414 80,329 33,242 BER 1,	68,140 70,827 73,496 76,165	60,551 62,941 65,312	59,237 61,554 63,871	
7 7	77,414 30,329 33,242 BER 1,	70,827 73,496 76,165	62,941 65,312	61,554 63,871	43,179
8 8	30,329 33,242 BER 1,	73,496 76,165	65,312	63,871	
<del>                                     </del>	BER 1,	76,165			
9   8	BER 1,		67,667	66,171	
	<del>'</del> 1	2006			
055551	<del>'</del> 1	2006			
,	- A -			·	_
1	CATI	CATII	CAT III	CAT IV	CATV
	58,146	53,202	47,273	46,234	35,142
1 6	31,119	55,926	49,710	48,617	36,630
	34,093	58,648	52,109	50,982	38,101
3 6	37,086	61,389	54,527	53,308	39,609
4 7	70,040	64,075	56,928	55,691	41,099
5 7	73,014	66,815	59,363	58,056	42,571
6 7	76,004	69,503	61,762	60,422	44,043
7 7	78,962	72,244	64,200	62,785	
	31,936	74,966	66,618	65,148	
9 8	34,907	77,688	69,020	67,494	
FEBRUA	RY1 2	007			
	CATI	CAT II	CAT III	CAT IV	CATV
	58,727	53,734	47,746	46,696	35,493
$\overline{}$	31,730	56,485	50,207	49,103	36,996
	64,734	59,234	52,630	51,492	38,482
<del></del>	37,757	62,003	55,072	53,841	40,005
<del></del>	70,740	64,716	57,497	56,248	41,510
	73,744	67,483	59,957	58,637	42,997
	76,764	70,198	62,380	61,026	44,483
J	79,752	72,966	64,842	63,413	-
	32,755	75,716	67,284	65,799	
	35,756	78,465	69,710	68,169	

SEPTEMBER 1. 2007						
STEP	CATI	CATII	CAT III	CAT IV	CATV	
0	59,784	54,701	48,605	47,537	36,132	
1	62,841	57,502	51,111	49,987	37,662	
2	65,899	60,300	53,577	52,419	39,175	
3	68,977	63,119	56,063	54,810	40,725	
4	72,013	65,881	58,532	57,260	42,257	
5	75,071	68,698	61,036	59,692	43,771	
6	78,146	71,462	63,503	62,124	45,284	
7	81,188	74,279	66,009	64,554		
8	84,245	77,079	68,495	66,983		
9	87,300	79,877	70,965	69,396		

FEBRUARY 1, 2008						
STEP	CATI	CATII	CAT III	CAT IV	CATV	
0	60,621	55,467	49,285	48,203	36,638	
1	63,721	58,307	51,827	50,687	38,189	
2	66,822	61,144	54,327	53,153	39,723	
3	69,943	64,003	56,848	55,577	41,295	
4	73,021	66,803	59,351	58,062	42,849	
5	76,122	69,660	61,891	60,528	44,384	
6	79,240	72,462	64,392	62,994	45,918	
7	82,325	75,319	66,933	65,458		
8	85,424	78,158	69,454	67,921		
9	88,522	80,995	71,959	70,368		

### NOTES:

- 1. Employees may only move from one Category to another Category through a promotion approved by the Employer.
- 2. Employees frozen at Step 7 of Category IV due to non-successful completion of the minimal educational qualifications shall remain at Step 7 of Category IV. Any progression beyond Step 7 of Category IV for these Employees will take place only upon successful completion of the minimal education qualifications for their positions.
- 3. Employees in Categories I to III who are required to maintain registration in a professional college shall receive a reimbursement of \$150 per year upon proof of expenditure.
- 4. Step 0 will be considered the initial placement for Employees with less than one (1) year of relevant experience.
- 5. Child and Youth Workers who possess a Child and Youth Care Bachelors degree and who are working in a special/specific project shall be placed in Category IV.

Category I Doctorate is a requirement of the Employer for the position.

Category I Masters is a requirement of the Employer for the position.

### NOTES RE: CATEGORY PLACEMENT FOR JOB CLASSIFICATIONS

For newly-hired Employees, the Job Classifications will be placed as follows:

Attendance Counsellors Category IV Child and Youth Workers Category V Court Liaison Workers Category TBD Educational Audiologists Category II Category II Multilingual Team Leaders Occupational Therapists Category III **Physiotherapists** Category III Psychologists (doctorate) Category I Psychological Associates Category II Psycho-Educational Consultants Category II Social Workers Category II Speech Language Pathologists Category II Student Equity Program Advisor Category IV

### **APPENDIX B**

# Appendix B - Supplemental Employment Benefits (SEB) Plan - For Permanent Employees

### (See Article E.1.4.4.)

- 1. The object of this SEB plan is to supplement the employment insurance (E.I.) benefits received by Employees from Human Resources Development Canada for temporary unemployment caused by Pregnancy Leave of Parental Leave for the purposes of adoption.
- 2. The other requirements for receipt of a SEB are:
  - (a) the Employee must apply for and be in receipt of pregnancy or adoption benefits from the Human Resources Development Canada;
  - (b) an application of SEB must be made by the Employee on a form to be provided by the Employer and the Employee shall provide proof that the Employee is in receipt of E.I. benefits indicating the weekly amount to be paid by Human Resources Development Canada:
  - (c) the Employee shall sign an agreement with the Employer indicating:
    - (i) that the Employee will return to work (prior to submitting any resignation) and remain in the service of the Employer (in accordance with the terms of the Agreement to which this plan is part) after returning from the Employee's Pregnancy Leave or Parental Leave for the purposes of adoption (and any subsequent additional leave granted by the Employer under this Agreement); and
    - (ii) that should the Employee not comply with (i) above the Employee shall reimburse the Employer any monies paid to the Employee under this SEB plan.
- 3. An Employee must have applied for and be in receipt of E.I. benefits before a SEB becomes payable.
- 4. An Employee who is not in receipt of E.I. benefits shall not be eligible for a SEB, except if the reason for non-receipt is that the Employee is serving the two-week waiting period. A SEB payment shall be made only when it has been verified that the Employee has applied for and is in receipt of E.I. benefits.

- 5. An Employee shall not have the right to a SEB payment except for supplementation of E.I. Benefits for the unemployment period as specified by this plan.
- 6. The benefit levels paid under this plan are set out in 7. and 8. below. It is understood that consistent with current employment insurance regulations:
  - in any week, the total amount of the SEB, E.I. Gross benefits and any other earnings received by the Employee shall not exceed 95% of the Employee's normal weekly earnings, and
  - (b) any payments in respect of annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under this plan.
- 7. For the two (2) week waiting period before E.I. benefits commence the benefit level paid under this plan will continue to be set at a weekly rate equal to 90% of the Employee's weekly insurable earnings as determined by Human Resources Development Canada. For the term of this Agreement this shall continue to be the maximum number of weeks for which a SEB is payable.
- 8. The following additional provision shall apply: For up to 15 weeks following the *two* (2) week waiting period under 7. above the benefit level paid under the plan shall be \$75.00 per week providing the Employee remains in receipt of E.I. Benefits as set out under 4. above.
- 9. In accordance with current employment insurance regulations the Employer shall inform the Human Resources Development Canada of any changes in the SEB plan and, subject to review by Human Resources Development Canada, the duration of this plan as set out above shall continue for the term of this Agreement.

### **APPENDIX C**

### Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan Non-Teaching Employees

### PART I - GENERAL

- In this Plan.
  - (a) "Board" means the Toronto District School Board
  - (b) A "Credit" means a sick leave credit entitling an employee or part-time employee to be paid his/her salary or part-time salary respectively for one day under the provisions of this Plan during his/her absence from duty.
  - (c) "Director" means the Director of Education and Secretary-Treasurer for the Board.
  - (d) The "Working Year" shall commence on the first day of September.
  - (e) "Basic Salary" means salary as per relevant schedule or Collective Agreement, exclusive of overtime and is prorated for half-time employees.
  - (f) "Predecessor Board" means, The Board of Education for the Borough of East York, The Board of Education for the City of Etobicoke, The Board of Education for the City of North York, The Board of Education for the City of Scarborough, The Board of Education for the City of Toronto, The Board of Education for the City of York, or The Metropolitan Toronto School Board.
- 2. Subject to the final authority of the Board, the administration of the Plan shall be vested in the Director or designate.
- 3. The Director or designate shall in accordance with the terms of the Plan have power to do and perform all things necessary for the conduct of the Plan, including the power to allow or disallow any Credits or deductions thereof and to compute upon severance of employment the number of Credits to which the Employee is entitled.
- 4. (a) The Director or designate shall be responsible for keeping a record of accumulated Credits and deductions therefrom.
  - (b) Credits shall be recorded in an Employee's sick leave account in such a way as to indicate whether they are for a full day's salary or a part day's salary.
- 5. (a) Those included in the Plan shall be:
  - (i) all employees of the Board on the permanent or probationary staff;

- (b) Those not included in the Plan shall be:
  - (i) persons employed on an occasional basis or as summer employees;
  - (ii) persons employed on a day-to-day basis or temporary employees.
- 6. Subject to the provisions in Part VI relating to Special Leave.
  - (a) At the beginning of each Working Year there shall be placed in the sick leave account of each Employee on the permanent or probationary staff on a Working Year of twelve (12) months, twenty-four credits, and on a working year of less than twelve (12) months a prorated number of credits.
  - (b) At the beginning of his/her employment there shall be placed in the sick leave account of each Employee on the permanent or probationary staff whose employment number of Credits equal to that proportion of the total number of Credits for a full Working Year that the working time remaining in that Working Year bears to the total working time in the year.
  - (c) An Employee absent from duty for a complete Working Year because of personal illness shall be entitled to a full sick leave Credit for that year except as otherwise provided in a Collective Agreement or Board policy. An Employee absent for a Working Year for reasons other than personal illness shall not receive any sick leave Credits during the year.
- 7. The Credits of each Employee on the permanent or probationary staff shall be accumulated in his/her sick leave account from year to year.
- 8. To the extent that an Employee is entitled to benefits under a Statute in respect of the right to receive payment during absence due to illness or dental condition, he/she shall not be entitled to the same benefits under the Plan.

### PART II - CREDITS FROM PREVIOUS PLANS AND TRANSFERS

9. There shall be placed in the sick leave account of each Employee of the Board at the date of the commencement of the Plan the number of Credits equal to the unused sick leave Credits held by the Employee at that date under the provisions of the Plan of the Board existing immediately prior to the commencement of the Plan, provided that if any Employee was at any time employed by a school board or board of education in the Metropolitan Area whose sick leave plan contained limitations or restrictions upon the number of unused sick leave Credits which could be transferred or accumulated, the Credits to be placed to his/her account under the Plan shall be determined as if such sick leave plan or plans had contained no such limitations or restrictions.

- 10. Where an Employee ceases to be employed by the Board,
  - (a) the number of Credits standing to his/her credit under the Plan shall be reduced by two (2) Credits for each month or part of a month remaining in the Working Year of such employee;
  - (b) if the Employee receives a gratuity or other allowance calculated in relation to or on the basis of the Credits in his/her sick leave account, the Credits standing to his/her credit shall be reduced to zero (0).
- 11. Where an employee of a school board, municipality or local board thereof within the Province of Ontario that had established a sick leave credit plan becomes an Employee of the Board, the Board shall, in accordance with the Education Act, place to his/her credit in his/her sick leave account that number of credits equal to the sick leave credits standing to the credit of such employee in the plan of such school board, municipality or local board thereof, provided that the number of credits to be **so** placed shall not exceed the number of Credits that would have been accumulated at the rate set under the Plan.
- 12. In the event of re-employment the Director or designate shall reinstate the Credits standing to the credit of the Employee on resignation unless such re-instatement is specifically prohibited by Statute.

### PART III - ABSENCE DUE TO ILLNESS WITH DEDUCTIONS FROM CREDITS

- 13. (a) Absence for illness of the Employee for a period of five (5) consecutive working days or less may be certified by the official of the Board in charge of the appropriate department.
  - (b) Absence for illness over five (5) consecutive working days must be certified by a licensed medical practitioner, a licensed chiropractor or, if on account of acute inflammatory condition of the teeth or gums, certified by a licentiate of dental surgery. In special cases there may be exemptions at the discretion of the Director or designate.
- 14. Where an Employee is absent for illness for more than twenty (20) consecutive working days, the Director or designate may require that a certificate be submitted monthly by such medical practitioner or licentiate of dental surgery before the Employee shall be entitled to payment under the Plan.
- 15. The Director or designate may at any time require that a certificate be submitted by a medical practitioner or licentiate of dental surgery or may appoint a medical practitioner or licentiate of dental surgery at the Board's expense.

- 16. **As** soon as possible, an Employee who is absent from duty due to illness, injury or dental condition shall notify the Board of the date at which the Employee plans to return to duty.
- 17. Should the Employee have obtained a certificate indicating that the Employee is medically fit to resume duty, the Employee shall so notify the Board.
- 18. Subject to the provisions respecting the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board as outlined in Section 19, a Credit shall be deducted from an Employee's sick leave account for each day of absence due to illness or dental condition for which the Employee's salary is paid, and no salary payments shall be made to an Employee for his/her absence due to illness or dental condition beyond the number of Credits in his/her sick leave account.
- 19. Subject to the provisions relating to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board, each Employee who is absent from duty due to illness or dental condition shall be paid for each day of absence the basic salary which he/she would have been entitled to receive for that day to the extent of the Credits in his/her account.
- 20. Nothing herein precludes an Employee from receiving sick leave pay if absent because of complications arising out or her pregnancy or post delivery recovery period or subsequent to Pregnancy Leave or a combined Pregnancy and Parental Leave.

# PART IV - ABSENCE WITH PAYMENT UNDER THE WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE ACT

- 21. Where an Employee is absent by reason of incapacity on account of an accident occurring while on duty and an award is made under the provisions of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act,
  - (a) such Employee shall be entitled to receive payment under the Plan of the difference between his/her basic salary and the amount of such award but only to the extent of the credits in his/her account; and,
  - (b) there shall be no deduction of credits for payments made under the provisions of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act but such payments made under 19(a) above shall result in deductions from Credits calculated as follows:

- (i) calculate the daily Basic Salary of the injured Employee and the daily award of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board; then
- (ii) express the difference between the daily Basic Salary and the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board daily award as a percentage (to two (2) decimal points) of the daily Basic Salary; and
- (iii) calculate the Credits to be deducted by multiplying the resulting percentage as calculated in (ii) above by the number of working days absent from work and charge these days against the Credits in the Employee's account. (Deductions to be made to the nearest half day.)

### PART V - SPECIAL LEAVE

22. No Credits shall be placed in, deducted from or accumulated in the account of an Employee in respect of that period of absence from duty for Special Leave.

### PART VI - SICK LEAVE CREDIT GRATUITIES

- 23. A sick leave Credit gratuity shall be paid:
  - (a) to an Employee who retires and is eligible to receive a normal or early pension or annuity according to the terms and conditions under the Ontario Municipal Employees' Retirement System or the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan:
  - (b) to an Employee who becomes totally and permanently disabled from performing the duties of his/her employment with the Board;
  - (c) to a named beneficiary or to the estate of an Employee who dies while in the employment of the Board;

and the amount of such sick leave Credit gratuity shall be calculated as hereinafter provided.

24. The sick leave Credit gratuity to be paid shall be equal to two percent (2%) of the final basic annual salary of the Employee at the time of his/her retirement, disability or death, multiplied by the number of full years' service with the Board or Predecessor Board, provided that the amount of such payment shall not exceed the Statutory limit.

For Employees on a Working Year of ten (10) months this Statutory limit would be the lesser of:

- (a) employee's annual salary x Accumulated Sick Leave x 1/2 200
- (b) annual salary x 1/2

For employees on a working year of twelve (12) months this Statutory limit would be the lesser of:

- (a) <u>annual salary</u> x Accumulated Sick Leave x ½ 240
- (b) annual salary x 1/2
- 25. Such sick leave Credit gratuity shall be reduced by any monies which an Employee received as a service gratuity (plus accrued interest at six percent (6%) compounded semi-annually from the date of payment of the gratuity) from any predecessor Board.
- 26. For the purpose of calculating the amount of a sick leave Credit gratuity, only Credits earned by the Employee during employment with the Board or Predecessor Board shall be taken into account. Credits accumulated from other employment will be used first in the case of illness but will not be used in the calculation of the gratuity.
- 27. The service gratuity plan in force in the Predecessor Boards of North York and Toronto prior to January 1, 1972, will remain in force in perpetuity for all those employed by a Predecessor Board prior to January 1st, 1972.

### MISCELLANEOUS LEAVE

 Application for Miscellaneous Leave shall be made to the Director or designate. Such application shall be made in writing at least ten (10) working days prior to the day for which the leave is requested.

### MISCELLANEOUS LEAVES WITH DEDUCTIONS FROM CREDITS

- 2. The Director or designate may grant Miscellaneous Leave up to a maximum in any one (1) year of five (5) days to an Employee on a working year of less than twelve months, and six (6) days to an Employee on a working year of twelve (12) months, without loss of salary but with deductions from "Credits" accumulated under the Board's Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan for the purpose of:
  - (a) attending the graduation of a husband, wife, son or daughter, parent or grandchild from a recognized post secondary institution,
  - (b) attending an adult drama or music festival in which the Employee is a participant,
  - (c) attending trustee or other relevant conventions when the Employee is a trustee in another municipality or is a member of a municipal council,
  - (d) participating in tournaments or athletic track and field meets related to Olympic Games, or finals of national competitions approved by the Employer,
  - (e) moving to a new place of residence on the day of the move or, for the purpose of moving, another day acceptable to the Director or designate, limited to once during the school year,
  - (f) caring for a member of the Employee's immediate family in a case of serious illness when the employee has been unable to obtain other proper care for such member.
  - (g) attending the funeral of a close relative or close friend,
  - (h) attending as President or Senior Executive Officer at approved convention, meeting or other function of a lodge, service club, Church Council, alumni association or recognized community organization,
  - (i) observing religious Holy Days,
  - (j) a father/spouse attending the birth of the father's/spouse's child,
  - (k) under special circumstances for reasons approved by the Director or designate:
  - (I) when adoption leave is not taken and circumstances require the Employee to be present during the adoption procedure.

### MISCELLANEOUS LEAVES WITHOUT DEDUCTIONS FROM CREDITS

- 3. An absence of up to three (3) days without loss of salary and sick leave credits shall be granted an Employee at the time of the death of a member of his/her immediate family. The immediate family shall be defined to include parents, parents-in-law, guardians, spouse, children, brothers, sisters, grandparent and grandchild. Under special circumstances for reasons approved by the Director or designate, additional days may be granted required for traveling time or other special circumstances.
- 4. The Director or designate may grant miscellaneous leave, other than that limited to five (5) or six (6) days in paragraph 2. hereof without loss of salary and without deductions from "Credits" accumulated under the Board's Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan, for the purpose of:
  - (a) writing university or similar examinations,
  - (b) attending the employee's own graduation, or
  - (c) quarantine or other order of the medical health authorities,
  - (d) jury duty or duty as a witness in any court to which he/she had been summoned in any proceedings to which he/she is not a party or one of the persons charged but Credits may be deducted for absence as provided in the Board's regulations governing Miscellaneous Leaves, or
  - (e) under special circumstances for reasons approved **by** the Director or designate.

### **Appendix D**

### List of Inactive Job Classes

### Job Classes Currently Inactive within the Bargaining Unit

Alternative Counsellors

**Assistant Attendance Counsellors** 

**Associate Social Workers** 

Behaviour Resource Counsellors

Change Your Future Counsellors

Change Your Future Initiatives Co-ordinators

Child and Youth Counsellors

**Educational Child and Youth Workers** 

Multilingual Educational Consultants

Multilingual/Multicultural Consultants

Psycho-educational Associates

SALEP Workers

**School Counsellors** 

Streetworkers

Student Program Worker

Team Co-ordinators of Psychology

Team Co-ordinators of Social Work

Youth Alienation Project Advisor

Youth Counsellors - Secondary

The parties agree that should these inactive job classes become active, or others become employed in the new job classes performing the duties of these job classes, the Bargaining Unit is recognized to represent the Employees in these **job** classes.

### **APPENDIX E**

### Self-Funded Leave Plan

Note: The details of this Self-Funded Leave Plan are subject to the approval of Canada Customs and Revenue Agency (CCRA) (formerly known as Revenue Canada) prior to implementation.

This Plan is designed to provide continuing Employees with an opportunity for paid leave and is not established to provide benefits to persons on or after retirement.

- 1. This Plan shall be open to all Permanent Employees.
- 2. An Employee who wishes to participate in the Plan shall make application by February 28 for a Plan commencing the following September 1st and ending August 31st or by June 30th for a Plan commencing the following January 1st, whenever is appropriate. Notwithstanding clause 2. above, Employees shall only be permitted to commence their leave September 1st to August 31st.
- 3. The Employer may accept or reject an Employee's application for the Leave Plan.
- 4. A maximum of seven (7) Permanent Employees may receive approval for the Self-Funded Leave for any year in accordance with established selection guidelines.
- 5. a. A committee comprised of up to two (2) Employer and up to two (2) Bargaining Unit representatives shall be convened to design the implementation process for the Plan and to prepare the guidelines to be used for the selection of applicants.
  - b. In preparing selection guidelines for applicants to the Plan, the Implementation Committee shall take into consideration the following items:
    - i. seniority
    - ii. job function
    - iii. previously-taken leaves of absence (excluding Pregnancy/Parental Leaves).
- 6. The Leave Plan shall be a four-over-five plan with the year of leave in the fifth year only.
- 7. The year of leave shall be for a twelve (12) month period commencing September 1st or January 1st, subject to clause 2(a) above.

- 8. An Employee who withdraws from participation in the Plan, once commenced, for reasons other than illness or personal family emergency, shall not be entitled to participate in the Plan during the balance of the Employee's employment with the Employer while covered by this Agreement. Withdrawal at the option of the Employee is permitted by reason of extenuating circumstances. Payment of deferred funds upon withdrawal must be made within ninety (90) days of withdrawal.
- 9. An Employee on leave shall continue to accumulate seniority and experience for salary purposes and service for vacation entitlement only.
- 10. An Employee shall not accrue in the year of the leave period vacation or Sick Leave Credits.
- 11. In each of the four **(4)** years of the work period that the Employee works for the Employer, the Employer agrees:
  - a. to pay to the Employee eighty percent (80%) of the total salary, as defined in paragraph 11(c), to which but for this leave plan, the Employee would otherwise be entitled.
  - b. to continue to pay the Employer's share of the cost of the Employee's insured employee benefits; and
  - c. if applicable, to continue the Employer's contribution to the Pension Plan based on 100% of the total salary (total salary is defined as grid salary plus allowances excluding expense or travel allowance).
- 12. In the one year of the leave period, the Employer will pay:
  - a. to the Employee, eighty percent (80%) of the total salary to which the Employee would otherwise be entitled if the Employee were not on the leave of absence.
  - b. one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the Employer's share of the insured employee benefits to which the Employee would otherwise be entitled if the Employee were not on the leave of absence; and
  - c. if applicable, its contribution to the Pension Plan for contributions based on one hundred percent (100%) of the total salary.
- 13. In consideration of salary and the share of insured employee benefits which will be paid by the Employer during the leave period, as set out in paragraph 12 above, the Employee agrees to the reduced salary which will be paid by the Employer during the work period, as set out in paragraph 11 above.

- 14. Payments to the Employee during the leave period shall become due and be paid on the Employer's regular payroll dates. Payments must be completed by the end of the first taxation year after the leave is taken.
- 15. The Employer shall make:
  - **a.** the appropriate payroll deductions from the eighty percent (80%) payable to the Employee for the balance of the cost of the insured employee benefits and shall make deductions for income tax purposes and other purposes as are required by law;
  - b. the appropriate payroll deductions for the Pension Plan based on 100% of the total salary; and
  - c. other deductions consistent with those made for other Employees who are not on leave if requested to do so by the Employee.
- 16. The Employer, for operational issues, may request that an Employee defer the period of leave for one year. An Employee, for personal reasons, may elect to defer the period of leave for one year. The Employer's request or the Employee's election shall be made not later than five (5) months prior to the starting date of the period of leave, or such other period if mutually agreed. If the leave period is postponed from the fifth year to a sixth year, payment of salary and employee benefits in the fifth year shall revert to 100%. When the postponed leave is actually taken in the sixth year, the Employer shall pay:
  - a. eighty percent (80%) of the Employee's salary to the Employee; and
  - b. one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the Employee's share of the insured employee benefits to which the Employee would otherwise be entitled if the Employee were not on the leave of absence.
- 17. If the Employee dies during the term of this Leave Plan before the leave period has commenced, the actual monies withheld during the work period shall be paid to the Employee's estate. Payments of deferred funds upon death shall be made within ninety (90) days of such event.
- 18. If the Employee dies during the term of this Leave Plan after having commenced the leave period, the Employer shall determine the difference between the actual monies paid during the leave period and the actual monies withheld during the work period. Should the actual monies withheld during the work period exceed the actual monies paid during the leave period, the difference shall be paid by the Employer to the Employee's estate. Should the actual monies paid during the leave period exceed the actual monies withheld during the work period, the Employee's estate shall not be liable to pay this difference to the Employer. Payments of deferred funds upon death shall be made within ninety (90) days of such event.

- 19. If, as a result of accident, injury or illness, the Employee becomes permanently disabled during the term of this Leave Plan and, in the opinion of the Employer's doctor(s), is no longer medically fit to carry out the Employee's duties, this Leave Plan will be terminated forthwith and the Employer shall determine the actual monies withheld during the work period and the actual monies paid during the leave period. Should the actual monies withheld during the work period exceed the actual monies paid during the leave period, the Employer shall pay this difference to the Employee. Should the actual monies paid during the leave period exceed the actual monies withheld during the work period, the Employee shall not be required to repay this difference to the Employer. Payments of deferred funds upon withdrawal because of accident or illness shall be made within ninety (90) days of such event.
- 20. In the event an Employee is granted a leave without pay during the term of this Leave Plan, the period of this Plan shall be extended by the length of the term of the leave without pay provided that the period covered by this Plan shall not exceed six years in any case.
- 21. No interest shall be payable by the Employer or by the Employee on any monies payable by either of them under this Leave Plan.
- 22. Should the Employee retire, resign or accept a position with the Employer but outside the Bargaining Unit, this Leave Plan shall terminate forthwith and any monies payable to either party shall be determined as set out in paragraph 19. Payments of deferred funds upon retirement, resignation or reassignment outside the Union shall be made within ninety (90) days of such event.
- 23. This Leave Plan shall not be construed as a guarantee of employment for the term of the Plan.
  - a. An Employee returning from leave shall be placed in a position equivalent to that occupied prior to taking leave.
  - b. The Employee shall return to regular employment with the Employer for one (1) full year following the year of leave.

# Letters of Understanding

### **Letters of Understanding**

#### RE: WORK SPACE AND SPACE NEEDS IN SCHOOLS

The Employer will ensure that Principals are advised to make reasonable efforts to make available suitable space for counselling, testing, parent meetings and other services provided by Bargaining Unit members.

The Employer will also endeavour to ensure that there is sufficient and suitable office space for all Employees who require such space.

Principals will be informed of the above noted requirements on an annual basis in September of each year.

#### RE: EQUIPMENT

The Employer will endeavour to provide technological equipment to Employees where such equipment is required to complete job functions.

#### RE: RETURNTO WORK

The Employer agrees to meet with a Committee of two (2) Bargaining Unit Representatives to discuss return to work accommodation protocols and issues and to recommend improved procedures and policies related to work accommodation. The committee shall meet not less than four (4) times per year.

This Letter shall expire on August 31, 2007.

#### **RE: PAY EQUITY**

The parties shall establish a Joint Pay Equity Committee composed of six (6) Employer and six (6) Bargaining Unit representatives to review the existing pay equity plans applicable to the Employees in the Bargaining Unit and the gender neutral comparison system(s) on which such plans are based to determine the changes, if any, required to develop a single pay equity plan applicable to the Bargaining Unit. In conducting such review and in the development of a new pay equity plan the parties shall comply with the requirements of the Pay Equity Act in developing a new pay equity plan because of the amalgamation of the Predecessor Boards into the TDSB.

#### RE: D.5.1.

The following provisions are intended to clarify the requirement of "membership in the appropriate professional college" (D.5.1.3.) as applied to the time requirement in D.5.1. with respect to the eligibility for permanent status.

The parties agree "membership" for purposes of the College of Psychologists shall be defined as "registered for autonomous practice" and authorized to perform the controlled act of diagnosis within the declared area of competency.

Effective on the date whereby the last party to this Agreement ratifies the Memorandum of Settlement, it is agreed that the area of autonomous practice and the declared area of competency shall be School Psychology.

The parties further agree that where a Temporary Employee:

- after one year of employment, and;
- who has not yet completed the requirements for autonomous practice, and;
- who is not authorized to perform the controlled act of diagnosis;

requests to have employment extended on a special basis until such time as he/she has completed the requirements for autonomous practice with authorization to perform the controlled act of diagnosis in School Psychology, shall have such a request granted, subject to the Employer's staffing needs as determined annually.

During this period of extended special temporary appointment, the Temporary Employee would not be required to re-apply for a temporary assignment. Following this special temporary appointment, should the Employee achieve permanent status, the Employee will have credited to his/her Cumulative Sick Leave Credit account the number of sick leave days accumulated and remaining under E.4.2.1. during the special temporary appointment. In any letter of employment verification requested by the Temporary Employee, the special temporary status will be explained.

Notwithstanding E.1.1.1. a Temporary Employee on special temporary appointment may apply for a leave of absence without pay.

#### RE:. COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

A joint committee composed of two (2) representatives of the Bargaining Unit and two (2) representatives of the Employer shall be struck within 60 days of the ratification of this Agreement to develop and recommend to the Bargaining Unit and the Employer a protocol for the use of the Employer's communication systems by the Bargaining Unit for Bargaining Unit business. This protocol will deal with issues such as the use of the e-mail system, telephone system and fax machines by the Bargaining Unit to send communications to groups of Employees and the types of communications that require prior notification to the Employer before they are sent to Employees.

### RE: DISCREPANCIES SEPTEMBER 1, 2004 – AUGUST 31, 2008 COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

In the event of a discrepancy between this document and the original ratified Memorandum of Settlement (signed October 23, 2005), the parties shall meet to resolve the issue.

#### RE: SCHOOL-BASED EMPLOYEES

By September 15 of each school year, the Employer will advise Principals of procedures regarding the supervision of students, on a regular basis, in the absence of classroom teachers and the requirements of the <a href="Employment Standards Act">Employment Standards Act</a> with respect to the hours of work and work breaks. The President of the Bargaining Unit will be consulted on the wording of this communication.

#### **RE: IMMEDIATE FAMILY**

The parties agree that for the purposes of implementing entitlements and/or requirements, any reference to "Immediate Family" in the Agreement, exclusive of Family Medical Leave, shall have the following application:

- References to siblings shall include step-siblings
- References to children shall include step-children
- References to parent shall include step-parents and legal guardians

#### RE: SUPERVISION OF CHILD & YOUTH WORKERS

The Employer and Bargaining Unit will meet during the term of the Agreement to discuss, review and recommend a supervisor model(s) for Child and Youth Workers to the Director.

The committee shall meet prior to December 31, 2005 and conclude its deliberations by September 1, 2006.

#### **RE: CHILD AND YOUTH WORKERS**

The Employer and the Bargaining Unit agree to establish a Committee to discuss and review the implementation of a process to confirm Child and Youth Workers as a TDSB redeployed position.

The committee shall meet prior to December 31, 2005 and conclude its deliberations by September 1, 2006.

#### **RE: SALARY REOPENER**

In addition to the increases set out in the Schedule of Wages, wages shall be increased by a maximum of 0.5% in each of the years commencing September 1, 2006 and September 1, 2007 on the following conditions:

- (i) If the province's tax revenues in the 2005-2006 fiscal year are at least 1% higher than that predicted in the 2004 provincial budget and inflation as measured by the Ontario CPI (all items) index increased by 2.5% or more during the period September 1, 2005 to September 1, 2006, the percentage increase which would otherwise be effective on September 1, 2006 shall be increased by the percentage amount by which the rate of inflation exceeded 2.5%, up to a maximum of 0.5%.
- (ii) If the province's tax revenues in the 2006-2007 fiscal year are at least 1% higher than that predicted in the 2004 provincial budget and inflation as measured by the Ontario CPI (all items) index increased by 3% or more during the period September 1, 2006 to September 1, 2007, the percentage increase which would otherwise be effective on September 1, 2007 shall be increased by adding the percentage amount by which the rate of inflation exceeded 3.0% up to a maximum of 0.5%.

It is understood that the above increase(s) will be limited to the percentage increase(s) granted to teachers under similar collective agreement provisions.

#### **RE: JOINT BENEFITS REVIEW COMMITTEE**

Subject to agreement with all bargaining agents and associations at the Toronto District School Board (TDSB) to participate on a Joint Benefits Review Committee and in recognition of the increasing cost of benefits and the desire to explore plan improvements, the Employer shall establish a Joint Benefits Review Committee.

The Committee shall be composed of representation from the Employer and the bargaining units and the associations. Each bargaining unitlassociation shall be permitted one representative on the Committee.

The Committee shall be jointly chaired by a representative of the Employer, a representative selected by the unions and a representative selected by the associations.

The Committee shall provide a vehicle for discussion of the Insured Health and Dental Care Plans and development of recommendations to ensure the financial viability of the Benefit Plans concerning cost containment, annual inflationary costs, plan improvements and efficiencies.

The Committee shall convene a minimum of four (4) times during each of the following school years:

September 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 September 1, 2006 to June 30, 2007 September 1, 2007 to June 30, 2008

The Committee's unanimous recommendations shall be forwarded to the Employer and the union. Thereafter, the Employer and Bargaining Unit may agree to amend the collective agreement by way of a Letter of Understanding to enable the parties to implement the unanimous recommendations. Any such agreement is also subject to whatever approval processes are needed by the parties. Recommendations that have been considered by the Committee but have not been unanimously approved by the Committee may be forwarded to the Employer and the respective negotiating team for consideration in the next round of bargaining.

This Letter of Understanding expires on August 31, 2008.

#### RE: PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACCOUNT

A one-time allowance for support staff represented by bargaining agents shall be provided by the Minister of Education. The proportionate share of money for PSSP provided by the Ministry of Education for the Support Staff Development Account will be forwarded to PSSP to be used to support professional development of PSSP members.

The allocation for PSSP members of the total amount received by the TDSB of \$2,607,743 for support staff represented by bargaining agents will be determined once all Bargaining agents and the Board have established the basis of allocation. In the event the union pays amounts out of the funds forwarded to PSSP to individual employees, such amounts shall be paid to those that were on staff in the 2004-2005 school year and will continue during the period of June 1, 2005 to August 31, 2006.

It is expected that the Bargaining Unit will establish appropriate procedures to maintain records of the expenditures made from the allocated funds. It is understood that the total amount used shall not exceed the total amount provided by the Ministry of Education.

It is understood that any reimbursements of eligible member professional development expenses made under the Professional Development Account are non-taxable.

The Bargaining Unit agrees to provide the Employer a written report with an accounting of the use of the funds by August 31, 2006 and to indemnify and hold harmless the TDSB from any liability for accounting or income tax purposes.

If any aspect of this Letter of Understanding is in conflict with a direction or guideline from the Ministry of Education concerning the support staff Professional Development Account, the parties shall meet to discuss and resolve the matter.

#### RE: JOINT COMMITTEE ON SUPPLEMENTAL STUDENT SERVICES

- The parties agree to form a Joint Committee on Supplemental Student Services to consider issues that arise from the use of external agency personnel that are not funded by the Ministry of Education and the impact on the Bargaining Unit.
- 2. The Committee shall consist of three (3) Bargaining Unit and three (3) Employer representatives. The Committee shall meet within thirty (30) days after the ratification of this Agreement and shall continue to meet on a regular basis as determined by the Committee.
- 3. The Employer shall gather on an ongoing basis the following information:
  - a) Names of the external agencies
  - b) Names and descriptions of programs/services and the number of personnel employed
  - c) Locations of programs/services
  - d) Duration of programs/services
  - e) Funding sources of programs/services
- 4. The Committee shall make joint recommendations to the Director or designate regarding:
  - a) additional information to be gathered and shared with the Committee, and;
  - b) the development of a system protocol(s) to be used by schools or departments for accessing and utilizing external agency programs, and;
  - c) the process for monitoring adherence to the system protocol(s).
- Should the parties not be able to agree to joint recommendations, then either or both parties may submit separate recommendations to the Director or designate.
- 6. Prior to the annual staffing process, the Committee shall receive and analyze the most current information gathered regarding the existing use of agencies external to the Employer that are not funded by the Ministry of Education. If necessary, the Committee shall make joint recommendations for any amendments to the system protocol(s) (paragraph 5 above applies).
- 7. The Committee shall complete its functions by July 1, 2008. After this date, the Employer will continue to gather and share the most current information outlined in paragraph 3. with the Bargaining Unit regarding the use of agencies external to the Employer that are not funded by the Ministry of Education.

#### **RE: CLARIFICATION NOTE FOR ARTICLE A.10.6.1.**

A formal investigation of an Employee's professional conduct shall be in adherence to Article A.10.6.1. of the Collective Agreement with no exception.

When a Principal or Manager meets with an Employee to discuss the regular day to day business of the school or department/service, Bargaining Unit representation is not required. If during the discussions the Principal or Manager feels that there has been a breach of professional conduct by the Employee he/she will be advised of his/her right to Bargaining Unit representation.

However, if the Principal or Manager meets with an Employee to investigate a complaint or concern regarding professional misconduct, the Employee will be advised of his/her right to Bargaining Unit representation.

If the Employee elects to have Bargaining Unit representation no further discussion of the issues will take place until the Bargaining Unit representative is present. Such meeting will be scheduled in a timely fashion.

The formal investigation of the professional conduct of an Employee, refers to a situation where the Principal/Manager conclude that the investigation, meeting or discussion may lead to a warning, reprimand or some other form of discipline.

#### RE: CATEGORY PLACEMENT INFORMATION

Effective February 2006, the Employee's statement of earnings shall also include the Employee's category placement.

#### RE: CHANGES TO GROUP MASTER POLICY

Upon written request by the Bargaining Unit President, the Employer will provide a copy of the insured employee benefits plans. The Employer will provide at least 30 days notice of any change in the benefit plan.

### Index

Α	E
Allowances Diagnostic Allowances Supervision Allowances 22 Arbitration 14 Attendance Management, 39	Employee Security
В	F
Benefits       40         Brochures       52         Dental Care Plan       49         Eligibility       47	Family Medical Leave46  G
Employment Insurance Commission Rebate 52 Extended Health Care Plan	Grievance Procedures
С	Step 111 Step 212
Calculation of Hourly Rate of Pay	Group Grievances See Grievances Group Life Insurance Plan See Benefits  H
Child and Youth Workers Coverage	Health and Safety
Communications	Immediate Family.78Inactive Job Classes.70Increments.20Infant Care/Child Care Leave.44Benefits.44
D	Seniority <b>44</b>
Definitions	Insured Employee Benefits <b>See</b> Benefits

J	Р	
Job Exchanges	Parental Leave	1:1:76 2:37 1:38 1:38 1:38 1:38
L	Reimbursement for Educational Courses3 Relationship	16
Labour-Management Consultations 9 Layoff. Recall and Termination 28 Leaves Of Absence Without Pay 40 Family Medical Leave 46 General 40 Infant Care/Child Care Leave 44 Leave for Bargaining Unit or OSSTF Business 45 Miscellaneous Leave 45 Parental Leave 42 Pregnancy Leave 41 Liability Insurance Coverage for Employees 34 Long Term Disability Plan See Benefits	Representation	10 33676
M	Seniority2	:
Management Grievances See Grievances Management Rights 6 Membershipand Dues 6 Miscellaneous Leave 45, 46  N Negotiation Committee 10	Agreement to Extend Times	23 4 3 4 3 5 6
Occasional Employees37		

Sick Leave Credit and Gratuity Plan	52
Absence Due to Illness6	34
Absence With Payment under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act	э 35
Credits from Previous Plans and Transfers 6	33
Miscellaneous Leave,	37
Miscellaneous Leave with Deductions from Credits6	38
Miscellaneous Leave without Deductions from Credits	69
Sick Leave Credit Gratuities	36
Special Leave	
Sick Leave Plan	52
Permanent Employees	52
Temporary Employees	53
Stoppage of Work	18
Storage of Medical Files	
Supervision Allowances	
Supplemental Employment Benefits	60
Τ	
T2200	22
Temporary Contract34,	37
Term of Agreement - Notice of Renewal	17
Termination of Employment and Seniority	

# Letters of Understanding

# (not forming part of the Collective Agreement)

The following Letters do not form part of the collective agreement and are attached only for information purposes. As such, these Letters are not subject to the grievance procedure.

## Letters of Understanding (not forming part of the Collective Agreement)

#### RE: SICK LEAVE AND PREGNANCY LEAVE

Employees eligible for Sick Leave shall be covered by the Employer's protocol on *Use of Sick Leave after the Birth of a Baby.* 

This protocol is not grievable.

